
 

                              OPEN SESSION 
 

 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE THIRD LAGUNA HILLS MUTUAL BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT MUTUAL BENEFIT CORPORATION 
 

Tuesday, October 18, 2022 - 9:30 a.m. 
Laguna Woods Village Community Center 

Board Room/Virtual Meeting  
24351 El Toro Road 

Laguna Woods, California 
 

NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

The purpose of this meeting is to conduct the regular Third Mutual Board Meeting in accordance with 
Civil Code §4930 and was hereby noticed in accordance with Civil Code §4920 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

1. Call meeting to order / Establish Quorum – President Laws 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance – Director Prince 
 

3. Approval of the Agenda 
 
4. Approval of the Minutes 

a. September 20, 2022 - Regular Board Meeting 

b. September 30, 2022 – Special Open Meeting 

c. October 7, 2022 – Agenda Prep Meeting  

d. October 7, 2022 – Special Open Meeting 

e. October 10, 2022 – Special Open Meeting 
 
5. Report of the Chair 
 
6. Update from VMS Board – Chair diLorenzo 
   
7. Open Forum (Three Minutes per Speaker) - At this time Members only may address the 
Board of Directors regarding items not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of this Board of 
Directors.  The board reserves the right to limit the total amount of time allotted for the Open Forum to 
thirty minutes. A member may speak only once during the forum. Speakers may not give their time to 
other people, no audio or video recording by attendees, and no rude or threatening comments. 
Members can attend the meeting by joining the Zoom link https://zoom.us/j/94899806730 or call  
1-(669) 900-6833 or email meeting@vmsinc.org to have your message read during the Open Forum. 
 
8. Responses to Open Forum Speakers 

about:blank
about:blank


 
 
Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Regular Board Open Session Meeting  
October 18, 2022 
Page 2 of 5 
 
 
9. CEO Report  
 
10.  Discussion of Rooftop Solar Systems – Maintenance & Construction Assistant 

Director, Bart Mejia 
  
11.   Consent Calendar - All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are recommended 

for action by committees and will be enacted by the Board by one motion. In the event 
an item is removed from the Consent Calendar by members of the Board, such 
item(s) shall be the subject of further discussion and action by the Board. 

 
a. Consistent with its statutory obligations the Board members individually reviewed  

Third Laguna Hills Mutual preliminary financials for the month of August 2022, and 
by this vote ratify that such review be confirmed in this month’s Board Member Open 
Session Meeting minutes per Civil Code §5501. 
 

b. Recommendation from the Finance Committee: 
(1) Approve a Resolution for Recording a Lien against Member ID# 931-371-47 
(2) Approve a Resolution for Recording a Lien against Member ID# 930-764-70 
(3) Approve a Resolution for Recording a Lien against Member ID# 933-612-26 
 

c. Entertain a Motion to Approve 2023 Collection & Lien Enforcement Policy  
 
12. Unfinished Business  
 

a. Entertain a Motion to Approve the Revised Architectural Standard No. 10 - Exterior 
Doors (September initial notification – 28-day notification for member review 
and comments to comply with Civil Code §4360 has been satisfied) 

 
 
13. New Business 
 

a. Entertain a Motion to Approve Request a Supplemental Appropriation for Shepherd’s 
Crook Conditional Use Permit Amendment (October initial notification – 28-day 
notification for member review and comments to comply with Civil Code 
§4360) 

 
b. Updated Committee Appointments 

 
14. Third Mutual Committee Reports  
 

a. Report of the Finance Committee / Financial Report – Director Laws.  The 
committee met on October 4, 2022; next meeting November 1, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. 
in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting.  
(1) Treasurer’s Report 
(2) Third Finance Committee Report 
(3) Resales/Leasing Reports 

 



 
 
Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Regular Board Open Session Meeting  
October 18, 2022 
Page 3 of 5 
 

b. Report of the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee – Director Cook. 
The committee met on September 26, 2022; next meeting October 24, 2022 at 
9:30 a.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 
 

c. Report of the Landscape Committee – Director Lewis.  The committee met on 
September 1, 2022; next meeting November 3, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. in the Board 
Room and as a virtual meeting.  

 
d. Report of the Maintenance and Construction Committee – Director Engdahl.  

The committee met on September 12, 2022; next meeting November 7, 2022, 
at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
(1) Garden Villa Rec. Room Subcommittee – Director Laws. The subcommittee met 

on May 26, 2022; next meeting is scheduled for Thursday November 3, 2022. 
 

e. Report of the Water Conservation Committee – Director Laws.  The committee 
met on July 28, 2022; next meeting October 27, 2022, at 2:00 p.m. in the Elm 
Room. 

 
f. Report of the Resident Policy and Compliance Committee – Director Laws.  The 

committee met on September 28, 2022; next meeting October 25, 2022, at 9:30 
a.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
 
15. GRF Committee Highlights 
 

a. Community Activities Committee – Director McCary. The committee met on 
October 13, 2022; next meeting, November 10, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board 
Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
b. Media and Communications Committee – Director McCary.  The committee met 

on October 17, 2022; next meeting November 21, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the 
Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
c. Website Ad Hoc Committee – Director McCary. The committee met on October 

17, 2022; next meeting TBA.   
 

d. GRF Landscape Committee – Director Lewis.  The committee met on 
September 14; next meeting December 14, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board 
Room and as a virtual meeting.   

 
e. GRF Maintenance & Construction Committee – Director Engdahl – The 

committee met on October 12, 2022; next meeting December 14, 2022, at 9:30 
a.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
f. GRF Strategic Planning Committee – Director Lewis.  The committee met on 

October 3, 2022; next meeting TBA. 
 



 
 
Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Regular Board Open Session Meeting  
October 18, 2022 
Page 4 of 5 
 

g. Mobility and Vehicles Committee – Director Bhada – The committee met on 
October 5, 2022; next meeting December 7, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board 
Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
h. Disaster Preparedness Task Force – Director Cook.  The task force met on 

September 27, 2022; next meeting November 29, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. in the 
Board Room. 

   
i. Report of the Laguna Woods Village Traffic Hearings – Director Laws.  The 

hearings were held on September 21, 2022; next meeting October 19, 2022 at 
9:00 a.m. as a virtual meeting. 

   
j. Information Technology Advisory Committee – Director Laws. This closed 

committee last met on September 30, 2022; next meeting October 28, 2022 at 
1:30 p.m. 

 
k. The following GRF Committees have not met since the last Third Board Meeting: 

 
i. GRF Finance Committee – Director Rane-Szostak. The committee met on 

August 17; next meeting October 19, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board 
Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
ii. Security and Community Access Committee – Director McCary. The 

committee met on August 22, 2022; next meeting October 31, 2022, at 
1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
iii. Clubhouse Facilities Renovation Ad Hoc Committee – Director Engdahl. 

The committee met on June 24, 2022; next meeting, TBA. 
   

iv. Purchasing Ad Hoc Committee – Director Rane-Szostak. The committee 
met on April 7, 2022; next meeting TBA. 

 
v. Insurance Ad Hoc Committee – Director Laws. This Closed committee last 

met on July 25, 2022; next meeting TBA. 
 
16. Future Agenda Items-- All matters listed under Future Agenda Items are Resolutions 

on 28-day public review or items for a future Board Meeting. No action will be taken by 
the Board on these agenda items at this meeting. The Board will take action on these 
items at a future Board Meeting.     

  
a. Request a Supplemental Appropriation for Shepherd’s Crook Conditional Use 

Permit Amendment 
 
17.    Directors’ Comments 
 
18. Recess - At this time the Meeting will recess for lunch and reconvene to Executive 

Session to discuss the following matters per California Civil Code §4935.   
 



 
 
Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Regular Board Open Session Meeting  
October 18, 2022 
Page 5 of 5 
 
Closed Session Agenda  

Approval of Agenda 
Approval of the Minutes 

(a)   September 20, 2022—Regular Closed Meeting 
Discuss and Consider Member Matters 
Discuss Personnel Matters 
Discuss and Consider Contractual Matters 
Discuss and Consider Litigation Matters 

 
 
18. Adjourn 



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



 
 

 

 
 

OPEN SESSION 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR OPEN MEETING OF THE 
THIRD LAGUNA HILLS MUTUAL BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT MUTUAL BENEFIT CORPORATION 
 

Tuesday, September 20, 2022 - 9:30 a.m. 
Laguna Woods Village Community Center 

Board Room/Virtual Meeting 
24351 El Toro Road 

Laguna Woods, California 
 
Directors Present: Mark Laws, Annie McCary, Jim Cook, Nathaniel Ira Lewis, 

Donna Rane-Szostak, Cris Prince, Cush Bhada, Jules Zalon, 
Ralph Engdahl 

 
Directors Absent: John Frankel (Resigned) 

 
Staff Present: Siobhan Foster-CEO, Makayla Schwietert, Paul Nguyen, 

Robert Carroll, Carlos Rojas, Kurt Wiemann, Jose Campos, 
Francis Gomez, Ian Barnette, Eileen Paulin, Steve Hormuth, 
Manuel Gomez 

 
Others Present: VMS – Rosemarie diLorenzo 

GRF – None 
United – None 

 
 
1. Call meeting to order / Establish Quorum – President Laws, Chair 
President Laws called the meeting to order at 9:30 a.m. and established that a quorum 
was present. 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
Director Bhada led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3. Approval of Agenda 
President Laws asked for a motion to approve the agenda. 

 
Director Rane-Szostak made a motion to approve the agenda. Director Bhada seconded. 

 
President Laws made a change to agenda item 13a. on page 2 of the agenda. Should be 
stated as Third and not GRF. 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 1 of 18



Hearing no further changes or objections, the amended agenda was approved unanimously. 

4. Approval of Minutes
a. August 16, 2022 - Regular Board Meeting
b. September 2, 2022 – Agenda Prep Meeting

Director Prince made a motion to approve the minutes of August 16, 2022 - Regular Board 
Meeting. Director Engdahl seconded. 

Hearing no changes or objections, August 16, 2022 - Regular Board Meeting minutes were 
approved unanimously. 

Director Lewis made a motion to approve the minutes of September 2, 2022 – Agenda Prep 
Meeting. Director Bhada seconded. 

Hearing no changes or objections, September 2, 2022 – Agenda Prep Meeting minutes 
were approved unanimously. 

5. Report of the Chair
President Laws commented on the following:

• Reminder to the members of Third. Third is currently looking for 3 volunteers to
serve on the Boards and represent Third Mutual.

o There is an open position on VMS which will be a one-year term to fill in an
open vacancy spot which was recently relinquished by a Third selected VMS
Board member.

o There are four GRF Board positions open. Third will get to choose one
delegate to fill one of the vacancies. This position will be a three-year term.

o There are four Third Board positions that are expiring in October. Only three
members of Third submitted applications. As a result, there is still one more
open position. This will also be a three-year term.

6. Update from the VMS Board – Chair diLorenzo
VMS Chair diLorenzo provided an update from the last VMS Board Meeting with the
following information:

• Focus Groups with 4 sessions held in September
• All Boards Training on November 18
• Employee Service Awards on September 21
• Employee Excellence Awards on October 17
• KPIs (Key Performance Indicators)

VMS Chair diLorenzo answered questions from the Board. 

7. Open Forum (Three Minutes per Speaker)
• Multiple members commented on the Davis-Stirling Act, §4745, pertaining to EV

Charging Station
• A member commented on proposed regulation banning the sale of internal

combustion cars
• Chris Collins gave an update on the Foundation of Laguna Woods Village on how

residents can obtain temporary help

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 2 of 18



 
 

• A member expressed concern about the infrastructure supporting electric vehicles 
• A member commented on Third’s Dues 
• A member commented on not using the amenities and having to pay the dues 

 
8. Responses to Open Forum Speakers 

• Director Engdahl clarified the rules about the new car regulations. 
• President Laws indicated he would work with other boards to discuss policies 

regarding electric vehicles 
• President Laws thanked Ms. Collins for her update 
• President Laws commented about solar being discussed at the next Board meeting 
• President Laws commented on the budget meeting today 
• President Laws commented that the village was based on a shared services model 

but he will discuss with the other presidents how to manage the amenities 
 
9. California Organic Recycling Legislation and Associated Industry Solutions (Oral 

Presentation) 
Mr. Hashem Shokair, Enterprise Sustainability Director of CR&R entered the meeting at 
9:57 a.m. and provided a presentation regarding the following: 

• Gave a brief description of his professional background 
• Gave a company overview of CR&R 
• Zero Waste Centered 
• Senate Bill 1383: Reduce Organic Waste Disposal by 75% by 2025 & Rescue for 

people to eat at least 20% of currently disposed surplus food by 2025 
• Anaerobic Digester 
• Anaerobic Digestion Flowchart 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

Mr. Shokair answered questions from the Board. 

Left meeting at 10:13 a.m. 

10. CEO Report 
CEO Siobhan Foster reported on: 

 
• Brian Gruner has separated from employment with Village Management Services 

and his role as Recreation and Special Events Director 
• VMS executive management and staff: 

• Appreciate Brian’s contributions during his time with the company and 
• Wish him the best in his future endeavors 

• Pleased to announce that Alison Giglio will serve as interim Recreation and Special 
Events Director beginning today 

• Alison holds a Bachelor of Arts in Sociology/Gerontology from California State 
University, Fullerton 
• And has more than 20 years of progressive recreation and special event experience 
including: 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 3 of 18



 
 

• Effectively communicating with elected officials, committees, volunteers, staff 
and the community 

• Managing facilities 
• Coordinating meaningful and efficient programs for all ages/abilities; and 
• Facilitating large-scale special events 

• Allison has served as director of parks and recreation for the City of Laguna Niguel, 
where she: 

• Administered recreation services and special events, and 
• Managed all community service facilities 

• She has also served Laguna Nigel as its recreation supervisor and recreation 
coordinator, where she: 
• Planned and managed major special events and recreational programs, and 
• Coordinated recreation programs and services for older adults at Sea Country Senior 

and Community Center 
• As Alison acclimates to the Village, executive management will work with the boards to 
chart the course in selecting a permanent Recreation and Special Events Director 
• Please join me in welcoming Alison to VMS 

CEO Foster answered questions from the Board. 

11. Consent Calendar - All matters listed under the Consent Calendar were recommended 
for action by committees and were enacted by the Board by one motion. Items removed 
from the Consent Calendar by members of the Board were moved for further discussion 
and action by the Board. 

 
President Laws asked for a motion to approve the Consent Calendar as presented. 

 
Director Rane-Szostak made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar. Director Lewis 
seconded the motion. 

 
Hearing no changes or objections, the motion to approve the Consent Calendar was 
approved unanimously. 

 
a. Consistent with its statutory obligations the Board members individually reviewed 

Third Laguna Hills Mutual preliminary financials for the month of July 2022, and by 
this vote ratify that such review be confirmed in this month’s Board Member Open 
Session Meeting minutes per Civil Code §5501. 

 
b. Recommendation from the Landscape Committee: 

1. Recommend to Approve the Removal of One Star Pine Tree Located at 5579-B 
Luz Del Sol 

 
RESOLUTION 03-22-95 

Approve the Request for 
Removal of One Star Pine Tree 

5579-B Luz Del Sol 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 4 of 18



 
 

WHEREAS, February 16, 2021, that the Board of Directors adopted Resolution 03-21-10 
Tree Maintenance Policy which states: 

“…Unless there is a purposeful reason, trees should not be removed merely because they 
are messy, or because of residents’ personal preferences concerning shape, color, size, or 
fragrance. Trees shall not be removed to preserve, enhance or create a view. 

• Trees shall not be removed to preserve, enhance or create a view. 
• Trees which are damaging or will damage a structure, pose a hazard, diseased, in failing 
health or interfering with neighboring trees, will be considered for removal. 
• Removal requests will be reviewed by a staff arborist and, if necessary, referred to the 
Committee. 
• Staff would be authorized to evaluate stands of trees in selected areas and recommend 
the selective removal of certain trees within the grouping while still preserving the overall look 
and intent of the grouped plantings. The Landscape Committee shall consider such 
recommendations…” 

WHEREAS, on September 1, 2022, the Landscape Committee reviewed a request from the 
Member at 5579-B to remove one Star Pine tree. The Member cited the reasons as 
litter/debris, structural damage, overgrown, sewer damage, and repeated sprinkler repair; 
and 

WHEREAS, staff inspected the condition of the tree and determined that it was in poor 
condition displaying dieback, deadwood, and a codominant leader; and 

WHEREAS, the Committee determined that the tree meets the guidelines set forth in 
Resolution 03-21-10 and recommends approving the request for the removal of one Star 
Pine tree located at 5579-B Luz Del Sol; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, September 20, 2022, the Board of Directors 
approves the request for the removal of one Star Pine tree located at 5579-B; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this resolution. 

 
12. Unfinished Business 

a.  Inter-Board Anti-Harassment, Anti-Abuse, and Anti-Intimidation Policy and 
Charter for Joint Hearing Body (MAY Initial Notification- Revised AUGUST 
2022 – 28-day notification for member review and comments to comply with 
Civil Code §4360 has been satisfied) 

RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 

Anti-Harassment, Anti-Abuse and Anti-Intimidation Policy and 
Charter of the Joint Hearing Body Committee 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Third Laguna Hills Mutual (“Third”), Golden Rain 
Foundation (“GRF”), and United Laguna Woods Mutual (“United”) require a clear and 
consistent policy to address claims of harassment, abuse and intimidation by directors to 
staff of Village Management Services Inc., fellow directors and residents, as well as claims 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 5 of 18



 
 

involving harassment, abuse and intimidation by residents to staff of VMS, directors and 
other residents; and 

 
WHEREAS, this Anti-Harassment, Anti-Abuse and Anti-Intimidation Policy (“Policy”) is 
intended to provide guidance relative to such behavior and issue a mechanism for 
addressing same by the Anti-Harassment, Anti-Abuse and Anti-Intimidation Joint Hearing 
Body Committee; and 

 
WHEREAS, this Policy is being adopted by the Board of Directors of Third, GRF, and United 
in the exercise of their respective duties to maintain, protect and enhance the value and 
desirability of Laguna Woods Village and the interests of all of its members. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, September 20, 2022, that the Board of Directors of 
this Corporation hereby adopts the Anti-Harassment, Anti-Abuse and Anti- Intimidation 
Policy and Charter of the Joint Hearing Body Committee, as attached to the official minutes 
of this meeting; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that Resolution 03-20-27, adopted April 21, 2020, is hereby 
superseded and canceled; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER; that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution. 

 
CEO Foster gave an update to discuss the changes that were made and gave some 
clarification. 

 
Director Prince made a motion to approve Resolution 03-22-XX. Director McCary seconded. 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

• Multiple members commented on concerns of the policy 
• A member commented in favor of the policy 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and failed 2-6-1. Directors 
Lewis, Prince, Bhada, Engdahl, Lewis, Cook, and Zalon opposed. Director Rane-Szostak 
abstained. 

 
b. Board Member Participation in Committees (AUGUST Initial Notification – 28- 

day notification for member review and comments to comply with Civil Code 
§4360 has been satisfied) 

 

RESOLUTION 03-22-96 
 

Board Member Participation in Committees 
 
WHEREAS, board members are appointed to committees to carry out the purpose of the 
Board as specified in the Committee Charters; and 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 6 of 18



 
 

WHEREAS, at present, board members are allowed to attend committee meetings and have 
the right to participate and vote; regardless of assignment to the Committee; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Resident Policy and Compliance Committee recognizes the need to clarify 
when board members are permitted to vote and participate at Committee’s that they are not 
assigned for; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, September 20, 2022, the Board of Directors of this 
Corporation hereby allows board members who attend a committee meeting to participate 
and vote as committee members only if a quorum for the committee is required; if there are 
more directors in attendance than needed to fill the quorum, the Chair will select the 
director(s) to establish the quorum requirement per the committee’s charter; and 

 
RESOLVE FURTHER, Resolution M3-03-71 adopted October 21, 2003 is hereby 
superseded and canceled; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution. 

 
Director Lewis made a motion to approve Resolution 03-22-96. Director Rane-Szostak 
seconded. 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and passed 8-1. 
Director Zalon opposed. 

 
c. Discuss and Consider 2021 Operating Deficit Transfer (AUGUST Initial 

Notification – 28-day notification for member review and comments to comply 
with Civil Code §4360 has been satisfied) 

 

RESOLUTION 03-22-97 
 

2021 Operating Deficit Transfer 

WHEREAS, the Third Laguna Hills Mutual Operating Statement as of December 31, 
2021 reflected an operating deficit, net of Depreciation, in the amount of $1,276,497 due to 
unforeseen increases in Property Insurance premiums offset by savings in employee 
compensation and legal fees; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, September 20, 2022, that the Board of Directors 
hereby authorizes a transfer in the amount of $1,276,497 from the Unappropriated 
Expenditures Fund to the Operating Fund due to the 2021 Operating Fund Deficit; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution. 

 
Director Cook made a motion to approve Resolution 03-22-97. Director Lewis seconded. 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 7 of 18



 
 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and passed 
unanimously. 

 
d. Discuss and Consider Approval of Resolution Limiting Use of Potable Water 

for Watering Exterior Plants from Hose bibs to Wednesdays and Sundays 
Only (AUGUST Initial Notification – 28-day notification for member review and 
comments to comply with Civil Code §4360 has been satisfied) 

 

RESOLUTION 03-22-98 
 

Outside Plant Watering Restrictions 

WHEREAS, July 28, 2022, the Third Landscape Committee recognized that the State of 
California is experiencing record drought conditions requiring parts of Southern California to 
reduce exterior irrigation water use; and 

 
WHEREAS, exterior water sources available to residents in Third Mutual are potable water, 
accessed through hose bibs on the exterior of the units; and 

 
WHEREAS, at this time, state and local mandates apply to potable water; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Third Landscape Committee determined that members and residents in 
Third Mutual must limit exterior watering of outside plants with potable water from exterior 
mounted hose bibs using a hose or other methods; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, on September 20, 2022, that members and 
residents within Third Mutual must limit the exterior watering of outside personal plants using 
potable water from exterior mounted hose bibs using a hose or other methods to 
Wednesdays and Sundays only, and no watering of common area plant material is permitted 
at any time from exterior mounted hose bibs; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, this resolution shall become in full force and effect on September 
20, 2022; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this resolution as written. 

 
Director Bhada made a motion to approve Resolution 03-22-98. Director Rane-Szostak 
seconded. 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

• A member commented on their support of this policy 
• Multiple members commented on their concerns of this policy 
• Multiple Directors gave clarifications on the policy 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 8 of 18



 
 

Kurt Wiemann, Director of Landscape Services, gave an update on the watering schedule 
of the community. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and passed 8-0-1. 
Director Engdahl abstained 

 
 
13. New Business 

a. Third 2023 Business Plan Adoption (Annual Budget) 
• Entertain a Motion to Approve the 2023 Third Business Plan 
• Entertain a Motion to Approve the 2023 Third Reserves Funding Plan 

 
 

RESOLUTION 03-22-99 
 

2023 Business Plan Resolution 
 
RESOLVED, September 20, 2022, that the Business Plan of this Corporation for the year 
2023 is hereby adopted and approved; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that pursuant to said business plan, the Board of Directors of 
this Corporation hereby estimates that the net sum of $41,437,424 is required by the 
Corporation to meet the Third Laguna Hills Mutual operating expenses and reserve 
contributions for the year 2023. In addition, the sum of $16,205,277 is required by the 
Corporation to meet the Golden Rain Foundation and the Golden Rain Foundation 
Trust operating expenses and reserve contributions for the year 2023. Therefore, a total 
of $57,642,701 is required to be collected from and paid by members of the 
Corporation as monthly assessments; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the Board of Directors of this Corporation hereby approves 
expenditures from reserves in the sum of $10,739,313 of which $10,453,167 is planned 
from the Replacement Fund, $125,000 from the Elevator Replacement Fund, $161,146 from 
the Laundry Replacement Fund; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the Board of Directors of this Corporation hereby approves 
expenditures from restricted funds in the sum of $1,322,112 of which $1,228,470 is 
planned from the Disaster Fund, $93,642 from the Garden Villa Recreation Room Fund; 
and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the Board of Directors of this Corporation hereby determines 
and establishes monthly assessments of the Corporation as shown on each 
member’s breakdown of monthly assessments for the year 2023 and as filed in the 
records of the Corporation, said assessments to be due and payable by the members 
of this Corporation on the first day of each month for the year 2023; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution. 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 9 of 18



 
 

Jose Campos presented 2023 GRF Business Plan and 2023 GRF Reserves Funding Plan. 
 
Director Zalon made a motion to approve Resolution 03-22-99. Director Lewis seconded. 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and passed 
unanimously. 

 
RESOLUTION 03-22-100 

 

2023 Reserve Funding Plan 
 
 
WHEREAS, Civil Code § 5570 requires specific reserve funding disclosure statements 
for common interest developments; and 

 
WHEREAS, planned assessments or other contributions to replacement reserves must 
be projected to ensure balances will be sufficient at the end of each year to meet the 
Corporation’s obligations for repair and/or replacement of major components during the 
next 30 years; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, September 20, 2022, that the Board hereby 
adopts the 30-Year Alternate Reserve Funding Plan (attached) prepared by 
Association ReservesTM for fiscal year 2023; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution. 

 
Director Zalon made a motion to approve Resolution 03-22-100. Director Lewis seconded. 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and passed 
unanimously. 

 
Staff directive for 2024 Operations goal to be reduced by (budget) 5% by President Laws. 

 

b. Update Committee Appointments 

RESOLUTION 03-22-101 
 

GRF Committee Appointments 
 
RESOLVED, September 20, 2022, that in compliance with Article 7, Section 7.3 of 
the Golden Rain Foundation Bylaws, the following persons are hereby appointed to 
serve onthe committees of the Golden Rain Foundation: 

Community Activities Committee 
Annie McCary 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 10 of 18



 
 

Cush Bhada 
Jules Zalon, Alternate 

 
GRF Finance Committee 
Donna Rane-Szostak 
Mark Laws 
Craig Wayne, Alternate 

 

Purchasing Ad Hoc Committee (new) 
Donna Rane-Szostak 
Ralph Engdahl, Alternate 
Mark Laws 

 
GRF Landscape Committee 
Jules Zalon 
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 
Annie McCary, Alternate 

 
GRF Maintenance and Construction Committee 
Ralph Engdahl 
Jim Cook 
John Frankel, Alternate 

 
Clubhouse Renovation Ad Hoc Committee 
John Frankel 
Ralph Engdahl 
Cush Bhada, Alternate 

 
GRF Media and Communications Committee 
Annie McCary 
Jim Cook 
Cris Prince, Alternate 

 
Broadband Ad Hoc Committee 
Cris Prince 
Annie McCary 
Jim Cook 

 
Mobility and Vehicles Committee 
Jim Cook, Alternate 
John Frankel 
Cush Bhada 

 
Security and Community Access Committee 
Annie McCary 
Cris Prince 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 11 of 18



 
 

Donna Rane-Szostak, Alternate 
 
Disaster Preparedness 
John Frankel 
Jim Cook 
Donna Rane-Szostak, Alternate 

 
Laguna Woods Village Traffic Hearings 
John Frankel 
Mark Laws 

 
Strategic Planning Committee 
Mark Laws 
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 

 
IT Technology Advisory Committee (ITAC) 
Mark Laws 

 
Insurance Ad Hoc Committee 
Cris Prince 
Mark Laws 
Jim Cook 

 
Website Ad Hoc Committee 
Annie McCary 
Mark Laws 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that Resolution 03-22-93, adopted August 16, 2022, is 
hereby superseded and canceled; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER; that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this resolution. 

 
President Laws approved Resolution 03-22-101 by unanimous consent as amended. 

 

c. Entertain a Motion to Approve Revised Architectural Standard No. 10- 
Exterior Doors (SEPTEMBER initial Notification – 28-day notification for 
member review and comments to comply with Civil Code §4360) 

 
RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 

 

Revised Alteration Standard 10- Doors, Exterior (Swing) 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 12 of 18



 
 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee recognizes the 
necessity to amend Alteration Standards and create new Alteration Standards as 
necessary; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee recognizes the 
need to revise Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, October 18, 2022, that the Board of 
Directors of this Corporation hereby adopts revisions and amendments to 
Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior (Swing); and 

 

2.0 TYPES OF DOORS 
 

2.1 All doors shall be of solid core 1-1/2" minimum thickness with exterior 
grade hardware. Metal doors and other composite materials are also 
allowed provided that they meet current California Building Code 
requirements for entry doors. 

 
2.2 Dutch doors, split doors, double doors and French doors may be 

allowed provided any and all required permits are obtained through the 
City of Laguna Woods and the Alterations Division office. 

 
2.3 Glass in entry doors and other modern designs may be allowed provided 

it follows the standards set for such installation as required by the 
current California Building Code. 

 
2.4 Door trim shall not exceed approximately 3.5" in width unless prior 

approval is obtained from the Alterations Division. 
 

2.5 All costs of maintenance shall be borne by the Mutual member. 
 
 

3.0 APPLICATIONS 
 

3.1  Doors shall be of wood, fiberglass, metal, or vinyl clad material or 
other composite materials. Doors shall be: 
1. White. 
2. Natural or stained (oak, maple, walnut, cherry, etc.) wood finish. 
3. The current color of the building or trim. 
4. Black. 
5. Any of the new colors approved, or reasonably similar, but not 

yet painted. 
6. Commonly used door colors as per the door manufacturer. 
7. Colors approved via the variance process. 

3.2 Screen door additions are acceptable. 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 13 of 18



 
 

 
3.3 Door frames may be replaced if pre-hung doors are being used as 

replacements. 
 

3.4 Any required irrigation or landscaping modifications resulting from the 
door (or required landing) installation must be performed by the Agent's 
Landscaping Division, at the Mutual member's expense. 

 
3.5 Exterior doors shall only be allowed in existing openings. For existing 

openings wider than 36", doors with accompanying sidelights may be 
used. 

 
3.6 Existing header height must remain unchanged; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, Resolution 03-18-40, adopted March 23, 2018, is hereby 
superseded and canceled; and 

 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this resolution as written. 

 
Manuel Gomez, Maintenance and Construction Director, discussed the revisions to 
Revised Architectural Standard No. 10- Exterior Doors. 

 
Director Cook requested the word “not exceed” be added before approximately 3.5” in 
width in section 2.4. 

 
Director Prince made a motion to approve the Resolution for discussion purposes and to 
postpone the final vote for 28-days per Civil Code §4360. Director Lewis seconded. 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and passed 
unanimously. 

 
d. Committees: How to get Residents More Involved (Oral Discussion) 

 
President Laws discussed ways to eliminate committees, sub committees and the 
creation of task force. 

 
• The creation of task force would be self-managed thus not requiring staff to 

create agendas and minutes and these task force will be able to complete 
specific tasks 

• The M&C, Landscape, ACSC, RP&C, Finance, and Executive Hearings 
Committees are to be kept 

• The remaining committees are to be either turned into a task force or be 
absorbed by one of the remaining 6 committees 

• For the remaining 6 committees, the committee chair will work with the other 
committee members to determine what information should be prepared by 
staff and be presented in the agenda packet. 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 14 of 18



 
 

• Committee Chairs to determine what advisors they need and want, what 
these advisors are expected to do, and if these advisors are able to attend 
close session 

• Committee Chairs to create a list of high focal areas and tasks they’d like to 
be discussed and addressed by the committee so that these can be shared 
with the members. 

 
Director Rane-Szostak discussed President Laws recommendation of eliminating the 
Water Conservation Ad Hoc Committee. 

 
Director Zalon made a suggestion of a blue-ribbon committee/task force to get residents 
with certain expertise in certain fields more involved. 

 
Further discussion ensued among the Board. 

 
e. Contractor List – Repeal Resolution 03-15-135 

Discussion ensued among the Board. 

Director Cook made a motion to approve the motion to repeal Resolution 03-15-135. Director 
Lewis seconded. 

• A member commented to remove the contractor list from the website and staff 
folders. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was called to a vote and passed 
unanimously. 

The Committee Reports and GRF Committee Highlights were taken out of order 
with 14e and 15a-d going first. 

Director McCary left the meeting at 12:19 p.m. 

14. Committee Reports 
 

a. Report of the Finance Committee / Financial Report – Director Rane-Szostak. The 
committee met on September 6, 2022; next meeting October 4, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in 
the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 
(1) Treasurer’s Report 
(2) Third Finance Committee Report 
(3) Resales/Leasing Reports 

 
b. Report of the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee – Director Cook. The 

committee met on August 22, 2022; next meeting September 26, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. 
in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
c. Report of the Landscape Committee – Director Lewis. The committee met on 

September 1, 2022; next meeting November 3, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. in the Board Room 
and as a virtual meeting. 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 15 of 18



 
 

d. Report of the Maintenance and Construction Committee – Director Engdahl. The 
committee met on September 12, 2022; next meeting November 7, 2022, at 1:30 
p.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
(1) Report of the Parking and Golf Cart Subcommittee – Director Bhada. The 

subcommittee met on July 27, 2022; next meeting October 17, 2022, at 9:30 a.m. 
in the Board Room. 

 
(2) Garden Villa Rec. Room Subcommittee – Director Laws. The subcommittee met 

on May 26, 2022; next meeting TBA. 
 

e. Report of the Communications Committee – Director McCary. The committee met 
on July 13, 2022. The next meeting is October 12, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Willow 
Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
f. Report of the Water Conservation Committee – Director Rane-Szostak. The 

committee met on July 28, 2022; next meeting October 27, 2022, at 2:00 p.m. in the 
Elm Room. 

 
g. Report of the Resident Policy and Compliance Committee – Director Laws. The 

committee met on August 23, 2022; next meeting September 28, 2022, at 9:30 a.m. 
in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
15. GRF Committee Highlights 

a. Community Activities Committee – Director McCary. The committee met on September 8, 
2022; next meeting, October 13, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual 
meeting. 

 
b. Media and Communications Committee – Director McCary. The committee met on 

September 19, 2022; next meeting October 17, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and 
as a virtual meeting. 

 
c. Security and Community Access Committee – Director McCary. The committee met on 

August 29, 2022; next meeting October 31, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and as a 
virtual meeting. 

 
d. Website Ad Hoc Committee – Director McCary. The committee met on September 14, 

2022; next meeting TBA. 
 

e. GRF Finance Committee – Director Rane-Szostak. The committee met on August 17; next 
meeting October 19, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 16 of 18



 
 

f. GRF Landscape Committee – Director Lewis. The committee met on September 14; next 
meeting December 14, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual meeting. 

 
g. GRF Maintenance & Construction Committee – Director Engdahl – The committee met on 

August 10, 2022; next meeting October 12, 2022, at 9:30 a.m. in the Board Room and as a 
virtual meeting. 

 
(1) Clubhouse Facilities Renovation Ad Hoc Committee – Director Engdahl. The committee 

met on June 24, 2022; next meeting, TBA. 
 

h. Report of the Laguna Woods Village Traffic Hearings – Director Laws. The hearings were 
held on August 17, 2022; next meeting September 21, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. as a virtual 
meeting. 

 
i. Information Technology Advisory Committee – Director Laws. This closed committee last 

met on August 26, 2022; next meeting September 30, 2022 at 1:30 p.m. 
 

j. The following GRF Committees have not met since the last Third Board Meeting: 
 

i. Mobility and Vehicles Committee – Director Bhada – The committee met on August 3, 
2022; next meeting October 5, 2022, at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room and as a virtual 
meeting. 

 
ii. Disaster Preparedness Task Force – Director Cook. The task force met on July 26, 

2022; next meeting September 27, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. in the Board Room. 
 

iii. GRF Strategic Planning Committee – Director Lewis. The committee met on May 2, 
2022; next meeting October 3, 2022 at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room. 

 
iv. Purchasing Ad Hoc Committee – Director Rane-Szostak. The committee met on April 

7, 2022; next meeting TBA. 
 

v. Insurance Ad Hoc Committee – Director Laws. This Closed committee last met on 
July 25, 2022; next meeting TBA. 

 
16. Future Agenda Items-- All matters listed under Future Agenda Items are Resolutions 

on 28-day public review or items for a future Board Meeting. No action will be taken by 
the Board on these agenda items at this meeting. The Board will take action on 
these items at a future Board Meeting. 

• Approve the Revised Architectural Standard No. 10 - Exterior Doors 
• Committees Discussion: Solar Energy 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 17 of 18



 
 

 
17. Directors’ Comments 

• Director Zalon commented on a dispute with a Board member from VMS 
• President Laws reminded the members about the next Town Hsall meeting on 

September 28, 2022 at 3:00 p.m. 
 
18. Recess - At this time, the meeting will recess for lunch and reconvene to Executive 
Session to discuss the following matters per California Civil Code §4935. 

 
The meeting was recessed into closed session at 12:45 p.m. 

 
Closed Session Agenda 
Approval of Agenda 
Approval of the Minutes 

(a) August 16, 2022—Regular Closed Session 
Discuss and Consider Member Matters 
Discuss Personnel Matters 
Discuss and Consider Contractual Matters 
Discuss and Consider Litigation Matters 

 
 
19. Adjournment 
The meeting was adjourned at 4:50 p.m. 

 
 

N. Cris Prince, Secretary of the Board 
Third Mutual Laguna Hills 

Agenda Item # 4a 
Page 18 of 18



 
 

 
 

SPECIAL OPEN SESSION 
 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL OPEN MEETING OF THE THIRD LAGUNA HILLS 
MUTUAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT MUTUAL BENEFIT 

CORPORATION 

Friday, September 30, 2022 – 10:00 a.m. 
Board Room/Virtual Meeting 

24351 El Toro Road 
Laguna Woods, California 

 
The purpose of this meeting is to appoint one GRF/Third Delegate, term ending in 2025 to be seated at the 
GRF Annual Meeting on November 9, 2022, and to fill a VMS/Third Vacancy on the VMS Board with a term 

ending in 2023, in accordance with Civil Code §5110 
 
 

Directors present:  Mark Laws, Ralph Engdahl, N. Cris Prince, Cush Bhada, Nathaniel 
Lewis, Jim Cook, Annie McCary 

Directors absent: Donna Rane-Szostak (Excused), Jules Zalon (Excused) 

Staff present: CEO-Siobhan Foster, Makayla Schwietert, Paul Nguyen, Catherine 
Laster 

Others present: Debbie Dotson, Rosemarie diLorenzo 

1. Call Meeting to Order / Establish Quorum – President Laws 
President Laws called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. and established that a 
quorum was present. 

 
2. State Purpose of Meeting – President Laws 

President Laws stated that the purpose of this meeting is to appoint on GRF/Third 
Delegate, term ending in 2025 to be seated at the GRF Annual Meeting on 
November 9, 2022; and to fill a VMS/Third Vacancy on the VMS Board with a 
term ending in 2023. 

3. Approval of the Agenda 
President Laws asked for a motion to approve the Agenda. 

 
Director McCary made a motion to approve the Agenda. Director Prince 
seconded. 

 
Hearing no changes or objections, the Agenda was approved unanimously. 

 
4. Introduction of Third/GRF Candidates: 

• Bunny Carpenter 

Agenda Item # 4b 
Page 1 of 4



 
 

 
 

• Egon Garthoffner 
• Andrew Ginocchio 
• James Hopkins 
• Yvonne Horton 

 
5. Candidate Opening Statements 

Each candidate was given two (2) minutes to give an opening statement. 

6. Candidate Interviews 
Each candidate was given one to two (1)-(2) minutes to answer questions from 
the board. 

7. Candidate Closing Statements 
Each candidate was given two (2) minutes to give a closing statement. 

8. Entertain a Motion to Commence Balloting 
Director Cook made a motion to commence balloting. Director Lewis seconded. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was approved unanimously. 

The board voted by secret ballot. 

9. Entertain a Motion to Cease Balloting 
Director Bhada made a motion to cease balloting. Director Cook seconded. 

 
Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was approved unanimously. 

10. Tabulation of Ballots and Announce Results – Corporate Secretary 
Corporate Secretary, Makayla Schwietert, tabulated the ballots and Director 
Cris Prince announced that Egon Garthoffner was elected: 

 
• Bunny Carpenter – 2 votes 
• Egon Garthoffner – 3 votes 
• Andrew Ginocchio – 1 votes 
• James Hopkins – 0 votes 
• Yvonne Horton – 1 votes 

 
11. Introduction of Third/VMS Candidates: 

• Edward Elwell 
• Mehrnaz Mahabadi 
• Mary Seto 

 
12. Candidate Opening Statements 

Each candidate was given two (2) minutes to give an opening statement. 
 

13. Candidate Interviews 
Each candidate was given one to two (1)-(2) minutes to answer questions from 
the board. 

Agenda Item # 4b 
Page 2 of 4



 
 

 
 

14. Candidate Closing Statements 
Each candidate was given two (2) minutes to give a closing statement. 

 
15. Entertain a Motion to Commence Balloting 

Director Bhada made a motion to commence balloting. Director Cook 
seconded. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was approved unanimously. 

The board voted by secret ballot. 

16. Entertain a Motion to Cease Balloting 
Director Bhada made a motion to cease balloting. Director McCary seconded. 

 
Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was approved unanimously. 

17. Tabulation of Ballots and Announce Results – Corporate Secretary 
Corporate Secretary, Makayla Schwietert, tabulated the ballots and Director 
Cris Prince announced that Mary Seto was elected: 

 
• Edward Elwell – 0 votes 
• Mehrnaz Mahabadi – 0 votes 
• Mary Seto – 7 votes 

 
18. Director Comments 

• Director Lewis reminded the candidates that they may also join committees 
• Director Lewis thank the candidates for applying 
• Multiple Directors congratulated Mary Seto and reminded the other 

candidates to possibly run for third board. 
 

19. Adjournment 12:00 p.m. 
 
 
 

N. Cris Prince, Secretary of the Board 
Third Mutual Laguna Hills 

Agenda Item # 4b 
Page 3 of 4



Agenda Item # 4b 
Page 4 of 4

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



 
 

 

 

OPEN SESSION 
 

MINUTES OF THE AGENDA PREP MEETING OF THE THIRD LAGUNA HILLS 
MUTUAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT MUTUAL BENEFIT 

CORPORATION 

Friday, October 7, 2022 - 8:30 a.m. 
Willow Room/Virtual Meeting 

24351 El Toro Road 
Laguna Woods, California 

 
The purpose of this meeting was to discuss agenda items for the Third Board Regular Meeting 

Civil Code §4930 
 
 

Directors present:  Mark Laws, Ralph Engdahl, N. Cris Prince, Cush Bhada, Jules 
Zalon, Nathaniel Lewis, Jim Cook 

Directors absent: Donna Rane-Szostak (Excused), Annie McCary (Excused) 

Staff present: CEO Siobhan Foster, Paul Nguyen, Catherine Laster 

Others present:  None 

1. Call Meeting to Order / Establish Quorum 
President Laws called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m. and established that a 
quorum was present. 

2. Approval of the Agenda 
President Laws asked for a motion to approve the Agenda. 

 
Director Cook made a motion to approve the Agenda. Director Bhada seconded. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the Agenda was approved unanimously. 

3. Discuss and Consider Items to be placed on the Third Board Regular 
Meeting Agenda (open & closed session) on October 18, 2022 

 
Discussion ensued among the board. 

 
Hearing no changes or objections, the October 18, 2022 open and closed session 
agendas were approved unanimously. 

4. Director Comments 
• President Laws reminded the Board that there is a Third Board Special Open 

Meeting this Monday at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room 

Agenda Item # 4c 
Page 1 of 2



Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Agenda Prep Open Meeting 
October 7, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 

5. Adjournment
The meeting was adjourned at 9:05 a.m.

N. Cris Prince, Secretary of the Board
Third Mutual Laguna Hills 

Agenda Item # 4c 
Page 2 of 2



DocuSign Envelope ID: 65A65DEC-06FF-4A71-BCF1-5D013DBFA070 
 

 

 

OPEN SESSION 
 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL OPEN MEETING OF THE THIRD LAGUNA HILLS 
MUTUAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT MUTUAL BENEFIT 

CORPORATION 

Friday, October 7, 2022 
(Immediately Following Agenda Prep) 

Willow Room/Virtual Meeting 
24351 El Toro Road 

Laguna Woods, California 
 
 
 

Directors present:  Mark Laws, Ralph Engdahl, N. Cris Prince, Cush Bhada, Jules 
Zalon, Nathaniel Lewis, Jim Cook 

Directors absent: Annie McCary (Excused), Donna Rane-Szostak (Excused) 

Staff present:  CEO Siobhan Foster, Paul Nguyen, Catherine Laster 

Others present:   None 

1. Call Meeting to Order / Establish Quorum 
President Laws called the meeting to order at 9:05 a.m. and established that a 
quorum was present. 

2. Approval of the Agenda 
President Laws asked for a motion to approve the Agenda. 

 
Director Bhada made a motion to approve the Agenda. Director Lewis seconded. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the Agenda was approved unanimously. 

3. New Business 
a. Committees – (Oral Discussion) 

 
President Laws discussed the vacant committee assignments due to Director 
Frankel stepping down and asked for input on how to fill the vacancies. 

 
Discussion ensued among the board. 

 
President Laws went through each Committee one at a time and made the 
necessary changes. 

Agenda Item #4d 
Page 1 of 2



DocuSign Envelope ID: 65A65DEC-06FF-4A71-BCF1-5D013DBFA070 

4. Director Comments
• President Laws asked for input on what advisors do.
• President Laws asked for the number advisors wanted for each committee
• Director Zalon spoke about Blue Ribbon Committees
• President Laws brought up creating certain tasks force
• President Laws spoke on eliminating ZOOM or similar platform –

Discussion ensued
• A member commented on the capability of viewing the meetings remotely

and its importance.

5. Adjournment
The meeting was adjourned at 9:56 a.m.

N. Cris Prince, Secretary of the Board
Third Mutual Laguna Hills 

Agenda Item #4d 
Page 2 of 2



 

 

OPEN SESSION 
 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL OPEN MEETING OF THE THIRD LAGUNA HILLS 
MUTUAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT MUTUAL BENEFIT 

CORPORATION 

Monday, October 10, 2022 at 1:30 p.m. 
Board Room/Virtual Meeting 

24351 El Toro Road 
Laguna Woods, California 

 
 
 

Directors present:  Mark Laws, Ralph Engdahl, N. Cris Prince, Jules Zalon, Nathaniel 
Lewis, Jim Cook, 

Directors absent: Cush Bhada (Excused) , Donna Rane-Szostak (Excused) , Annie 
McCary (Excused) 

Staff present: Makayla Schwietert, Paul Nguyen, Ian Barnette 
 

Candidates present: Moon Yun 

Others present: Reza Karimi (GRF), Egon Garthoffner (GRF) 

1. Call Meeting to Order / Establish Quorum 
President Laws called the meeting to order at 1:30 p.m. and established that a 
quorum was present. 

2. State Purpose of Meeting – President Laws 
President Laws stated the purpose of the meeting. 

 
3. Approval of the Agenda 

President Laws asked for a motion to approve the Agenda. 
 

Director Lewis made a motion to approve the Agenda. Director Zalon seconded. 

Hearing no changes or objections, the Agenda was approved unanimously. 

4. Introduction of Third Candidates 
President Laws introduced the Third Candidates: 
• Moon Yun 

 
5. Candidate Opening Statements 

The candidate was given two minutes to give an opening statement. 

Agenda Item # 4e 
Page 1 of 2



6. Candidate Interviews
The candidate was given 1-2 minutes to answer questions from the board.

7. Candidate Closing Statements
The candidate was given 2 minutes to give a closing statement.

8. Entertain a Motion to commence Balloting
Director Cook made a motion to commence balloting. Director Engdahl seconded.

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was approved unanimously.

9. Entertain a Motion to Cease Balloting
Director Engdahl made a motion to cease balloting. Director Lewis seconded.

Hearing no changes or objections, the motion was approved unanimously.

10. Tabulation of Ballots and Announce Results – Corporate Secretary
Corporate Secretary, Makayla Schwietert, tabulated the ballots and announced the
results.

• Term Ending in 2023 – 3 votes
• Term Ending in 2025 – 2 votes
• Withhold – 1 vote

Mr. Yun was elected to a 1-year term ending in October 2023 

11. Director Comments
• Director Yun commented helping the residents
• Multiple Directors congratulated Director Yun, thanked him for applying, and

looked forward to working with him

12. Adjournment
The meeting was adjourned at 2:12 p.m.

N. Cris Prince, Secretary of the Board
Third Mutual Laguna Hills 

Agenda Item # 4e 
Page 2 of 2



 
 
 

RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 
 

Recording of a Lien 
 
WHEREAS, Member ID 931-371-47; is currently delinquent to Third 
Laguna Hills Mutual with regard to the monthly assessment; and 
 
WHEREAS, a Notice of Delinquent Assessment (Lien) will be filed upon 
adoption of this resolution following at least a majority vote of the Board 
(with no delegation of such action by the Board), acting in an open 
meeting, and for which the Board's vote is recorded in the minutes;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, October 18, 2022, that the Board 
of Directors hereby approves the recording of a Lien for Member ID 931-
371-47; and  
 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation 
are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the 
purpose of this resolution. 

 

Agenda Item #11b(1) 
Page 1 of 2



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #11b(1) 
Page 2 of 2



 
 
 

RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 
 

Recording of a Lien 
 
WHEREAS, Member ID 930-764-70; is currently delinquent to Third 
Laguna Hills Mutual with regard to the monthly assessment; and 
 
WHEREAS, a Notice of Delinquent Assessment (Lien) will be filed upon 
adoption of this resolution following at least a majority vote of the Board 
(with no delegation of such action by the Board), acting in an open 
meeting, and for which the Board's vote is recorded in the minutes;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, October 18, 2022, that the Board 
of Directors hereby approves the recording of a Lien for Member ID 930-
764-70; and  
 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation 
are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the 
purpose of this resolution. 

 

Agenda Item #11b(2) 
Page 1 of 2



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #11b(2) 
Page 2 of 2



 
 
 

RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 
 

Recording of a Lien 
 
WHEREAS, Member ID 933-612-26; is currently delinquent to Third 
Laguna Hills Mutual with regard to the monthly assessment; and 
 
WHEREAS, a Notice of Delinquent Assessment (Lien) will be filed upon 
adoption of this resolution following at least a majority vote of the Board 
(with no delegation of such action by the Board), acting in an open 
meeting, and for which the Board's vote is recorded in the minutes;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, October 18, 2022, that the Board 
of Directors hereby approves the recording of a Lien for Member ID 933-
612-26; and  
 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation 
are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the 
purpose of this resolution. 

 

Agenda Item #11b(3) 
Page 1 of 2



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #11b(3) 
Page 2 of 2



STAFF REPORT 

DATE: October 18, 2022 
FOR:  Board of Directors 
SUBJECT: 2023 Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of the 2023 Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy.

BACKGROUND 
The proposed 2023 Third Laguna Hills Mutual Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy outlines 
the procedures, policies, and practices employed by the Mutual in enforcing rights or other legal 
remedies against members who are in default in payment of assessments. The policy statement 
is provided pursuant to the requirements of California Civil Code section 53150(a)(7) and will 
be distributed to members in November 2022 as part of the Annual Policy Statement.  

DISCUSSION 
None.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
None. 

Prepared By: Erika Hernadnez, Finance Department Administrative Assistant 

Reviewed By: Jose Campos, Assistant Director of Financial Services 
Steve Hormuth, Director of Financial Services 

ATTACHMENT(S) 
Attachment 1: 2023 Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy (Redline) 
Attachment 2: 2023 Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy (Clean)  
Attachment 2: Resolution 03-22-XX 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 1 of 32



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 2 of 32



2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
AND PROCEDURES FOR ASSESSMENT DELINQUENCIES 

PURPOSE STATEMENT 

The following is a statement of the specific procedures, policies, and practices (“Policy Statement”) 
employed by Third Laguna Hills Mutual, a California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation (the 
“Mutual”) in enforcing lien rights or other legal remedies for default in payment of its assessments 
against its owners (“Members”). This Policy Statement is provided pursuant to the requirements of 
California Civil Code Section 5310(a)(7). 

The collection of delinquent assessments is of vital concern to all Members of the Mutual. Such efforts 
ensure that all Members pay their fair share of the costs of services and facilities provided and maintained 
by the Mutual. Members’ failure to pay assessments when due creates a cash-flow problem for the 
Mutual and causes those Members who make timely payment of their assessments to bear a 
disproportionate share of the community’s financial obligations. Special assessments must be received 
in a timely fashion in order to finance the needs for which said special assessments are imposed. 

Accordingly, in order to reduce the amount and duration of delinquencies and to encourage the prompt 
and full payment of all assessments, the Mutual has been vested with certain enforcement rights and 
remedies which are in addition to those which exist generally for creditors. These rights and remedies 
are described in this Policy Statement. 

FAILURE TO MAKE TIMELY PAYMENTS CAN RESULT IN THE IMPOSITION OF LATE 
CHARGES, INTEREST, COSTS OF COLLECTION, POSSIBLE RESULTANT LEGAL ACTION 
AND AGREE MEMBERS AGREE THAT THEY CAN BE REQUIRED TO REIMBURSE THE 
MUTUAL FOR SUCH LEGAL COSTS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER FORMAL LEGAL ACTION 
IS TAKEN. IT IS IN YOUR AND EVERY OTHER MEMBER’S BEST INTEREST FOR EACH OF 
YOU TO MAKE YOUR MONTHLY ASSESSMENT PAYMENTS ON TIME. 

REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE MUTUAL RECORDS A LIEN ON YOUR PROPERTY 
DURING THE COLLECTION OF PAST-DUE ASSESSMENTS, ALL MEMBERS HAVE A 
PERSONAL AND ONGOING OBLIGATION TO PAY ASSESSMENTS AND CHARGES. 

BASIC POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Delinquency reports are prepared monthly by the Mutual’s managing agent to the Mutual’s Board of 
Directors (“Board”), identifying the delinquent Member, and the amount and length of time the 
assessments have been in arrears. The policies and practices outlined in this Policy Statement shall 
remain in effect until such time as they may be changed, modified, or amended by a duly adopted 
resolution of the Board, or unless the applicable statutory scheme changes, in which event, this Policy 
Statement shall be construed so as to be consistent with any newly adopted statutes or court decisions. 
In accordance with the Mutual’s governing documents (including, without limitation, the Articles of 

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 3 of 32



2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

Incorporation, the Bylaws, the recorded CC&Rs, rules and regulations, and written policies) 
(collectively, the “Governing Documents”) and the Civil Code, to ensure the prompt payment of monthly 
assessments, the Mutual employs the following collection and lien enforcement policies and procedures, 
including for the collection of assessments, late charges, interest, fees, and chargeable services charged 
against Members pursuant to the Governing Documents and current law: 

1. Assessment Due Date

Regular assessments (“Carrying Charges” as defined in Article 1, Section 8 of the CC&Rs) are due and 
payable to the Mutual, in advance, in equal monthly installments, on the first (1st) day of each month. It 
is each Member’s responsibility to pay assessments in full each month regardless of whether a billing 
statement is received. Special assessments shall be due and payable on the due date specified by the 
Board in the notice imposing the special assessment or in the ballot presenting the special assessment to 
the Members for approval. In no event shall a special assessment be due and payable earlier than thirty 
(30) days after the special assessment is duly imposed.

2. Reminder Notice

A monthly assessment becomes delinquent if it is not received by the Mutual on or before the close of 
business on the sixteenth (16th) day of the month (or, for special assessments, if it is not received by the 
Mutual on or before the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day after it is due). A written reminder 
notice may be sent and emailed to the Member. It is each Member’s responsibility to pay assessments in 
full each month regardless of whether a reminder notice is received. 

TO BE CONSIDERED TIMELY, PAYMENT MUST BE RECEIVED BY THE MUTUAL WITHIN 
THE FIFTEEN (15) DAY GRACE PERIOD. SIMPLY PLACING THE PAYMENT IN THE MAIL 
BEFORE THE GRACE PERIOD EXPIRES IS INSUFFICIENT. 

IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING, CHARGEABLE SERVICES ARE LATE IF NOT PAID 
WITHIN TWENTY-FIVE (25) DAYS AFTER BECOMING DUE. 

3. Administrative Collection Fee

It is the policy of the Mutual not to routinely waive any duly imposed late charges, interest, or actually 
incurred “Costs of Collection.” “Costs of Collection” as used in this Policy Statement include, without 
limitation, an administrative collection fee, currently in the amount of five hundred dollars ($500) (the 
“Administrative Collection Fee”), which is charged by the Mutual’s managing agent to cover staff’s 
costs to prepare files for delivery to the Mutual’s legal counsel and/or collection agent in order to carry 
out authorized legal and/or collection actions, as well as direct costs incurred in recording and/or mailing 
documents attendant to the legal and/or collection process. 

The Administrative Collection Fee may be increased by majority vote of the Mutual’s Board and may 
be collected by the Mutual’s legal counsel and/or collection agent on its behalf, and remitted to the 
Mutual’s managing agent, or may be directly collected by the Mutual’s managing agent. Any change to 
the Administrative Collection Fee shall not be deemed a change to this Policy and shall not require rule 
change or member review period procedures to be undertaken by the Board. 

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 4 of 32



2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

4. Late Charge

IT IS THE MEMBER’S RESPONSIBILITY TO ALLOW AMPLE TIME TO DROP OFF OR MAIL 
ALL PAYMENTS SO THAT THEY ARE RECEIVED BEFORE THEY BECOME DELINQUENT. 
Any notices or invoices for assessments and/or special assessments will be sent to Members by first- 
class and/or certified mail addressed to the Member at his/her/their/its address as shown on the books 
and records of the Mutual. However, it is the Member’s responsibility to be aware of the assessment 
payment amounts and due dates and to advise the Mutual of any changes in the Member’s mailing 
address, pursuant to Civil Code Section 4041. 

A late payment charge for a delinquent assessment will be assessed in the amount of seventy-five dollars 
($75) and will be imposed on any assessment payment that is more than fifteen (15) days in arrears. 
Further, both Civil Code Section 5650 and the Mutual’s Governing Documents provide for interest on 
all sums imposed in accordance with Section 5650, including on delinquent assessment, reasonable fees 
and costs of collection, and reasonable attorney’s fees, which may be imposed thirty (30) days after the 
assessment is due, at an annual percentage rate of twelve percent (12%). Such interest may be imposed 
and collected regardless of whether the Member’s delinquent account is referred to the Mutual’s legal 
counsel and/or collection agent for handling. Non-assessment fines, fees, and chargeable services are 
also subject to a late fee and interest, in an amount determined by Board resolution. 

5. Demand Letter (aka Pre-Lien Notice)

If full payment of the delinquent amount is not received by the close of business on the day which is 
fifteen (15) days after the date of a reminder notice, as described in Section 2 above, or if no reminder 
notice was sent, then within thirty (30) days after the date when the delinquent amount became due, then 
a demand letter pursuant to Civil Code Section 5660 (a “Pre-Lien Notice”), as detailed below, will be 
sent to the Member by Certified Mail. The Mutual, through its managing agent, may also attempt to 
contact the Member by telephone to remind the Member of the delinquency and determine when 
payment will be made. However, no assurances can be given that the Mutual will in fact reach the 
Member by telephone, and the Member is responsible to pay off the delinquency whether or not a 
reminder notice or telephone reminder is actually received by the Member. 

6. Alternate Means to Collect Delinquent Sums

If full payment of the delinquent amount (such as a duly levied and imposed assessment, fine, fee, or 
chargeable service including associated late charges and interest) is not received by the close of business 
on the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of a demand letter for payment of same (and with respect to 
recording a lien against a Member’s separate interest in the condominium project (“Manor”), on the 
thirtieth (30th) day after receipt of a Pre-Lien Notice) the Mutual may, at its option, in accordance with 
the requirements and conditions herein and applicable law, and based on the circumstances of the 
delinquency, including but not limited to, the total delinquent amount owing and the Member’s payment 
history, undertake to collect the delinquency by: (1) suspending a Member’s right (and that of the 
Resident or Tenant of that Member’s Manor) to use Mutual or Golden Rain Foundation of Laguna 
Woods (“GRF”) facilities; (2) termination of the delinquent Member’s Membership in the Mutual as a 
result of any foreclosure, (3) legal actions, discussed further below, or (4) other means permitted by law. 

A demand letter and/or Pre-Lien Notice is presumed to have been received in the regular course of mail 
within five (5) days of mailing if the mailing address is within California and within ten (10) days if the 

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 5 of 32



8. Lien

The Mutual may secure the delinquency by recording a notice of delinquent assessment (lien) on the 
owner’s Manor with the Orange County recorder. The debt shall be a lien on the owner’s Manor from 
and after the time the Mutual records a notice of delinquent assessment, which shall state: the amount of 
the assessment and other sums imposed in accordance with Civil Code Section 5650(b); a legal 
description of the owner’s Manor; and the name of the record owner of the Manor. 
An itemized statement of the debt owed by the owner, as described in Civil Code Section 5660(b), shall 
be recorded together with the notice of delinquent assessment. In order for the lien to be enforced by 
nonjudicial foreclosure as provided in Civil Code Sections 5700 to 5710, inclusive, the notice of 
delinquent assessment shall state the name and address of the trustee authorized by the Mutual to enforce 
the lien by sale of the Manor. The notice of delinquent assessment shall be signed by the person 
designated in the declaration or by the Mutual for that purpose, or if no one is designated, by the president 
of the Mutual. A copy of the recorded notice of delinquent assessment shall be mailed by certified mail 

Attachment 1

2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

mailing address is within the United States but outside of California and within twenty (20) days if the 
mailing address is outside of the United States. 

The Mutual may, after following appropriate procedures prescribed by law and the Mutual’s Governing 
Documents, suspend a delinquent Member’s right to use facilities or receive services provided by the 
Mutual, or both, until the delinquency is paid in full, including interest, late charges, and/or Costs of 
Collection, as may have been imposed or incurred in a particular instance. Failure to pay in full such 
amounts may also result in suspension of certain Membership rights and the ability to use the facilities 
or services provided by GRF or by this Mutual. 

The Mutual may also take various legal actions to enforce the collection of delinquencies. THESE 
ACTIONS MAY BE TAKEN SEPARATELY OR CONCURRENTLY. 

7. Small Claims Court

A civil action in small claims court may be filed, with a management company representative or 
bookkeeper appearing and participating on behalf of the Mutual. 

PLEASE NOTE THAT A SMALL CLAIMS COURT ACTION MAY BE PURSUED BASED ON A 
BOARD RESOLUTION EITHER BEFORE OR AFTER RECORDING A NOTICE OF 
DELINQUENT ASSESSMENT (LIEN), AND/OR AFTER A WRITE-OFF. 

The amount that may be recovered in small claims court may not exceed the jurisdictional limits of the 
small claims court, and shall be the sum of the following: (a) the amount owed as of the date of filing of 
the complaint in the small claims court; and (b) in the discretion of the court, an additional amount equal 
to the amount owed for the period from the date the complaint is filed until satisfaction of the judgment, 
which total amount may include accruing unpaid assessments, fines, fees, or chargeable services, and 
any reasonable late charges, fees and Costs of Collection (including attorney’s fees), and interest, all up 
to the jurisdictional limits of the small claims court. 

Successive small claims court actions may be pursued, consistently with applicable laws, until the entire 
amount of the delinquency is recovered. 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 6 of 32



9. Foreclosure/ADR

After thirty (30) days following the recording of a delinquent assessment lien, the lien may be enforced 
in any manner permitted by law. Once the amount of delinquent assessments (not including any late 
charges, fees, interest, or Costs of Collection), exceeds One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars ($1,800), 
OR any unpaid assessments are more than twelve (12) months delinquent, then, subject to the conditions 
specified below, the Mutual may initiate foreclosure proceedings to collect the amounts owed. 

These conditions include that, prior to initiating a foreclosure, the Mutual shall offer the Member, and if 
so requested by the Member, the Mutual shall participate in dispute resolution pursuant to the Mutual’s 
“meet and confer” program, or alternative dispute resolution (ADR). THE DECISION TO PURSUE 
DISPUTE RESOLUTION OR A PARTICULAR TYPE OF ADR SHALL BE THE CHOICE OF THE 
MEMBER, EXCEPT THAT BINDING ARBITRATION SHALL NOT BE AVAILABLE IF THE 
MUTUAL INTENDS TO INITIATE A JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE. 

Civil Code Section 5965 requires the following statement to be included in this Policy Statement: 

“Failure of a member of the association to comply with the alternative dispute resolution 
requirements of Section 5930 of the Civil Code may result in the loss of the member’s 
right to sue the association or another member of the association regarding enforcement 
of the governing documents or the applicable law.” 

If any “meet and confer” session or ADR is engaged in by and between the Member and the Mutual (or 
any neutral third parties, as the case may be), and these efforts do not result in a payment plan, then, 
assuming the statutory minimum as to the delinquent amount or duration of the delinquency has been 
met, the Mutual may commence foreclosing the lien against the Member’s Manor and sell the Manor at 
a private sale or by a judicial sale. If this occurs, the Member may lose title to his/her/their/its Manor. 

10. Board Decision to Initiate Foreclosure

The decision to initiate foreclosure of a validly recorded delinquent assessment lien shall be made only 
by the Board and may not be delegated to an agent of the Mutual. The Board shall approve the decision 
by a majority vote of the Board in an executive session. The vote must be recorded in the minutes of the 
next meeting of the Board open to all Members; however, the confidentiality of the delinquent Member 
shall be maintained by identifying the matter in the minutes only by the Parcel Number, and not by the 
name of the delinquent Member. A Board vote to approve foreclosure of a lien shall take place at least 
thirty (30) days prior to any public sale or judicial foreclosure. 

If the Board votes to foreclose upon an owner’s Manor, the Board shall provide notice by personal 
service to an owner of a Manor if the owner occupies the Manor or to their legal representative. For a 
non-occupying owner, the Board shall provide written notice by first-class mail, postage prepaid, at the 

Attachment 1
2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

to every person whose name is shown as an owner of the Manor in the Mutual’s records, and shall be 
mailed no later than ten (10) calendar days after recordation. 

If it is determined that the Mutual has recorded a lien for a delinquent assessment in error, the Mutual 
shall promptly reverse all related late charges, fees, interest, attorney’s fees, and Costs of Collection, and 
pay all costs incurred by the Mutual related to any related an internal dispute resolution (IDR) or 
alternative dispute resolution (ADR). 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 7 of 32



11. Non-Judicial Foreclosure/Right of Redemption

A non-judicial foreclosure by the Mutual to collect upon a debt for delinquent assessments is subject to 
a statutory right of redemption. The redemption period within which the Manor may be redeemed from 
a foreclosure sale ends ninety (90) days after the sale, per Civil Code Section 5715. 

If a foreclosure action is prosecuted to judgment and the judgment is in favor of the Mutual, assets of 
the Member may be seized or a lien may be placed on such assets to satisfy the judgment. Pursuant to 
the provisions of California law, applicable regulations, and the Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 
(CC&Rs), the delinquent amount, as well as late charges on the delinquent assessments and/or interest 
charges and/or Costs of Collection (including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees, title company and 
foreclosure service company charges, charges imposed to defray the cost of preparing and mailing 
demand letters (such as the Administrative Collection Fee), recording costs and costs associated with 
small claims court actions) may be enforced as a lien against the Member’s Manor. 

Moreover, pursuant to California law, monetary penalties that have been imposed by the Mutual as a 
means of reimbursing the Mutual for costs incurred by the Mutual in the repair of damage to common 
areas and/or community facilities for which a Member or a Member’s guests or tenants were responsible 
may also be enforced as a lien against the Member’s Manor. 

12. Prerequisites to Recording a Lien: Offer of IDR/ADR and Thirty (30) Day Pre-Lien Notice

Before a lien may be recorded against a Manor of a delinquent Member, the Mutual must offer the 
Member, and if so requested by the Member, the Mutual must participate in IDR pursuant to the Mutual’s 
“meet and confer” program (per the requirements set forth in Article 2 commencing with section 5900 
of Chapter 10) or ADR as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925 of Chapter 10), both in 
the Civil Code. 

Any choice by a Member to pursue IDR or any kind of ADR must be made by the Member’s delivery 
of written notice of such choice to the Mutual’s managing agent within thirty (30) days of any event 
which triggers a Member’s right to pursue IDR/ADR, whether it is before a lien can be recorded (i.e., 
upon receipt of the certified Pre-Lien Notice), or prior to initiating a foreclosure action, or in any other 
situation for which the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act or the Mutual’s Governing 
Documents authorize or allow a Member to choose IDR/ADR. A Member’s right to pursue IDR/ADR 
may be triggered by, among other things, a decision by the Board and/or Executive Hearing Committee, 
as applicable, following any right to appeal pursuant to the Mutual’s Appeal Policy. 

THE DECISION TO PURSUE IDR OR A PARTICULAR TYPE OF ADR SHALL BE THE CHOICE 
OF THE OWNER. However, binding arbitration is not available if the Mutual intends to initiate a 
judicial foreclosure. 

Attachment 1

2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

most current address shown on the books of the Mutual. In the absence of written notification by a non- 
occupying owner to the Mutual, the address of the owner’s Manor may be treated as the owner’s mailing 
address. 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 8 of 32



2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

13. Pre-Lien Notice

Prior to recording a lien against a Member’s Manor, the Mutual must send the Member a certified notice 
providing information regarding the sums claimed as being delinquent (“Pre-Lien Notice”). No lien can 
be recorded until thirty (30) days after this Pre-Lien Notice has been given. 

The Pre-Lien Notice must include the following information (per Civil Code Section 5660): 

(a) A general description of the collection and lien enforcement procedures of the Mutual
and the method of calculation of the amount, a statement that the owner of the Manor has
the right to inspect the association records pursuant to Section 5205, and the following
statement in 14-point boldface type, if printed, or in capital letters, if typed;

“IMPORTANT NOTICE: IF YOUR SEPARATE INTEREST IS PLACED IN
FORECLOSURE BECAUSE YOU ARE BEHIND IN YOUR ASSESSMENTS, IT
MAY BE SOLD WITHOUT COURT ACTION.”

(b) An itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner, including items on the statement
which indicate the amount of any delinquent assessments, the fees and reasonable costs
of collection, reasonable attorney’s fees, any late charges, and interest, if any;

(c) A statement that the owner shall not be liable to pay the charges, interest, and costs of
collection, if it is determined the assessment was paid on time to the association;

(d) The right to request a meeting with the Bboard as provided in Section 5665;

(e) The right to dispute the assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute
resolution to the association pursuant to the association’s “meet and confer” program
required in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10;

(f) The right to request alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party pursuant to
Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925) of Chapter 10 before the association may
initiate foreclosure against the owner’s Manor, except that binding arbitration shall not
be available if the Aassociation intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure;

14. Member’s Right to Request a Meeting with the Board, or IDR or ADR.

Upon receipt of the certified Pre-Lien Notice described above, the noticed Member has several possible 
courses of action that can be taken at this point in the collection process, such as: 

(a) The Member has the right to dispute the assessment debt by submitting a written request
for IDR to the Mutual pursuant to the Mutual’s “meet and confer” program, which is
required by Civil Code Sections 5900-5920;

(b) The Member may exercise his/her/their/its right to participate in ADR with a neutral third
party under Civil Code Sections 5925-5965 before the Mutual may initiate foreclosure
against the owner’s Manor, except that binding arbitration shall not be available if the
Mutual intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure;

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 9 of 32



2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

(c) The Member has a right to submit a written request to meet with the Board to discuss a
payment plan for the delinquent assessment, as long as the request for a meeting is made
within fifteen (15) days following the postmark on the Mutual’s Pre-Lien Notice to the
Member. That meeting must take place within forty-five (45) days (calculated from the
postmark on the Member’s request) and must be conducted in executive session. When a
Member has made a timely request for a meeting to discuss a payment plan, the Mutual
must provide the requesting Member with the Mutual’s standards for payment plans, if
any standards have been adopted. There is no statutory authorization for the Board to
delegate this meeting obligation to a property manager, but the Board may designate a
committee of one or more directors to meet with the Member in a specially called
executive session meeting that will occur within forty-five (45) days of the Member’s
request.

15. Payment Plan Requests

Any Member who is unable to timely pay regular or special assessments is entitled to make a written 
request for a payment plan to the Mutual’s Board. A Member may also request to meet with the Board 
in executive session to discuss a payment plan if the payment plan request is mailed within fifteen (15) 
days of the postmark date of the Pre-Lien Notice. The Mutual’s Board will consider payment plan 
requests on a case-by-case basis and is under no obligation to grant payment plan requests. Payment 
plans may incorporate any assessments that accrue during the payment plan period. Payment plans may 
not impede the Mutual’s ability to record a lien on the Member’s Manor to secure payment of delinquent 
assessments. Additional late fees shall not accrue during the payment plan period if the Member is in 
compliance with the terms of the payment plan. In the event of a default on any payment plan, the Mutual 
may resume its efforts to collect the delinquent assessments from the time prior to entering into the 
payment plan. The Mutual reserves the right to impose reasonable conditions on any approvals for a 
payment plan and request that the delinquent Member provide disclosure of certain identifying 
information and other assets that may be used as additional security for the debt owed. 

16. Application of Payments

In accordance with state law payments received on delinquent assessments shall be applied to the 
Member’s account in the following order of priority: assessments owed, then fees and costs of collection, 
attorney’s fees, late charges, interest. Payments on  account of principal shall be applied in reverse order 
so that the oldest arrearages are retired first. Interest shall continue to accrue on unpaid balances of 
principal, and other costs and charges imposed in accordance with Civil Code Section 5655.   

17. Secondary Address

Members have a right and obligation to identify in writing to the Mutual a secondary address for purposes 
of collection notices delivered pursuant to the Mutual’s Policy Statement, and upon receipt of a proper 
written request from a Member identifying a secondary address that complies with Civil Code Section 
4041 and the Governing Documents, the Mutual must send additional notices to this secondary address. 
Pursuant to Civil Code Section 4041, Members must keep the Mutual updated with respect to any 
mailing or secondary address to which notices from the Mutual are to be delivered. If Members fail to 
provide such information to the Mutual, the Manor shall be deemed to be the address to which notices 
are to be delivered. 

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 10 of 32



2022 2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY 

18. No Right of Offset

There is no right of offset. This means that a Member may not withhold assessments and related charges 
owed to the Mutual on the alleged grounds that the Member would be entitled to recover money or 
damages from the Mutual based on some other obligation or some claim of another obligation. 

19. Returned Checks

The Mutual may charge the Member a twenty-five-dollar ($25) fee for the first check tendered to the 
Mutual that is returned unpaid by the Member’s bank, and thereafter, the Mutual may charge a thirty- 
five-dollar ($35) fee for any subsequent check that is returned based on insufficient funds. If a Member’s 
check cannot be negotiated for any reason, then the Mutual may also seek to recover damages of the 
greater of (a) one hundred dollars ($100); or (b) three (3) times the amount of the check up to one 
thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500) in accordance with Civil Code Section 1719. 

20. Charges and Fees Subject to Change

All charges and fees set forth in this Policy Statement are subject to change upon thirty (30) days prior 
written notice. 

21. Overnight Payments

The mailing address for overnight payment of assessments is: 

Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Attn: Assessment Payments 

24351 El Toro Road 
Laguna Woods, CA 92637 

22. Rights Reserved by Mutual

Although the matters set forth above summarize the policies and practices ordinarily employed to collect 
delinquent assessments, the Mutual reserves the right to employ other or additional policies and practices 
as may be necessary or appropriate when the uniqueness of the circumstances or habitualness of the 
delinquency so requires. 

23. Attachments

Notice of Assessments and Foreclosure (pursuant to Civil Code Section 5730): Attachment A. 

State Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 
disclosures: Attachment B. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

THIRD LAGUNA HILLS MUTUAL 

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 11 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 10 

ATTACHMENT A 

NOTICE OF 
ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE 

The following notice is provided pursuant to California Civil Code Section 5730 

NOTICE ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE 

This notice outlines some of the rights and responsibilities of owners of property in common interest 
developments and the associations that manage them. Please refer to the sections of the Civil Code 
indicated for further information. A portion of the information in this notice applies only to liens recorded 
on or after January 1, 2003. You may wish to consult a lawyer if you dispute an assessment. 

ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE 

Assessments become delinquent fifteen (15) days after they are due, unless the governing documents 
provide for a longer time. The failure to pay association assessments may result in the loss of an owner’s 
property through foreclosure. Foreclosure may occur either as a result of a court action, known as judicial 
foreclosure, or without court action, often referred to as nonjudicial foreclosure. For liens recorded on 
and after January 1, 2006, an association may not use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure to enforce that 
lien if the amount of the delinquent assessments or dues, exclusive of any accelerated assessments, late 
charges, fees, attorney’s fees, interest, and costs of collection, is less than one thousand eight hundred 
dollars ($1,800). For delinquent assessments or dues in excess of one thousand eight hundred dollars 
($1,800) or more than 12 months delinquent, an association may use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure 
subject to the conditions set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5700) of Chapter 8 of Part 5 of 
Division 4 of the Civil Code. When using judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association records a 
lien on the owner’s property. The owner’s property may be sold to satisfy the lien if the amounts secured 
by the lien are not paid. (Sections 5700 through 5720 of the Civil Code, inclusive) 

In a judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association may recover assessments, reasonable costs of 
collection, reasonable attorney’s fees, late charges, and interest. The association may not use nonjudicial 
foreclosure to collect fines or penalties, except for costs to repair common area damaged by a member 
or a member’s guests, if the governing documents provide for this. (Section 5725 of the Civil Code) 

The association must comply with the requirements of Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of 
Chapter 8 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code when collecting delinquent assessments. If the 
association fails to follow these requirements, it may not record a lien on the owner’s property until it 
has satisfied those requirements. Any additional costs that result from satisfying the requirements are the 
responsibility of the association. (Section 5675 of the Civil Code) 

At least thirty (30) days prior to recording a lien on an owner’s separate interest, the association must 
provide the owner of record with certain documents by certified mail, including a description of its 
collection and lien enforcement procedures and the method of calculating the amount. It must also 
provide an itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner. An owner has a right to review the 
association’s records to verify the debt. (Section 5660 of the Civil Code) 

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 12 of 32



Attachment 1

2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 11 

If a lien is recorded against an owner’s property in error, the person who recorded the lien is required to 
record a lien release within twenty-one (21) days, and to provide an owner certain documents in this 
regard. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code) 

The collection practices of the association may be governed by state and federal laws regarding fair debt 
collection. Penalties can be imposed for debt collection practices that violate these laws. 

PAYMENTS 

When an owner makes a payment, the owner may request a receipt, and the association is required to 
provide it. On the receipt, the association must indicate the date of payment and the person who received 
it. The association must inform owners of a mailing address for overnight payments. (Section 5655 of 
the Civil Code) 

An owner may, but is not obligated to, pay under protest any disputed charge or sum levied by the 
association, including, but not limited to, an assessment, fine, penalty, late fee, collection cost, or 
monetary penalty imposed as a disciplinary measure, and by so doing, specifically reserve the right to 
contest the disputed charge or sum in court or otherwise. 

An owner may dispute an assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute resolution to the 
association as set forth in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10 of Part 5 of Division 
4 of the Civil Code. In addition, an association may not initiate a foreclosure without participating in 
alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 
5925) of Chapter 10 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code, if so requested by the owner. Binding 
arbitration shall not be available if the association intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure. 

An owner is not liable for charges, interest, and costs of collection, if it is established that the assessment 
was paid properly on time. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code) 

MEETINGS AND PAYMENT PLANS 

An owner of a separate interest that is not a time-share interest may request the association to consider 
a payment plan to satisfy a delinquent assessment. The association must inform owners of the standards 
for payment plans, if any exists. (Section 5665 of the Civil Code) 

The board must meet with an owner who makes a proper written request for a meeting to discuss a 
payment plan when the owner has received notice of a delinquent assessment. These payment plans must 
conform with the payment plan standards of the association, if they exist. (Section 5665 of the Civil 
Code) 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 13 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 12 

ATTACHMENT B 

The following Disclosure is made pursuant to California Civil Code Sections 1812.700-1812.703. 

“The State Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices 
Act require that, except under unusual circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or 
after 9 p.m. They may not harass you by using threats of violence or arrest or by using obscene language. 
Collectors may not use false or misleading statements or call you at work if they know or have reason to 
know that you may not receive personal calls at work. For the most part, collectors may not tell another 
person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt. Collectors may contact another person to 
confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more information about debt collection activities, you 
may contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www.ftc.gov.” 

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 14 of 32



DELINQUENT ASSESSMENT – PAYMENT PLAN AGREEMENT 

Manor Number:__________  Assessment Delinquency:_____________ 

Member Name:  _________________________  Member SS#:_______________  DL#_______________ 

The undersigned hereby acknowledges the assessment delinquency shown above.  He or she acknowledges the rights of Third 
Laguna Hills Mutual (the Mutual) to collect such assessments, together with accrued late charges, interest and collection costs, in 
accordance with the laws of the State of California and the governing documents of the Mutual.  The following reflects the standards 
that have been adopted by the Board of Directors.  Refer to the Payment Plan Standards For Delinquent Assessment Payments 
document for more details.  The undersigned agrees to repay the delinquency debt according to the following plan,  

Check One: 

� INSTALLMENTS: The delinquent balance will be paid off in its entirety within ______ months.  To achieve this, extra
monthly payments will be made in the amount of $__________.  These payments will be in addition to the regular 
monthly assessment.  Extra payments will commence on ______ and be made on or before the first of each successive 
month until the delinquency and accrued late charges are paid in full.  With this standard payment option, the undersigned 
is also required to submit a completed financial statement form (enclosed) as well as a copy of pages one and two of the 
two most recent federal tax returns. 

� LUMP SUM: Payment in full of the delinquent amount will be made in a lump sum on or before _________.  This
payment will be in addition to the regular monthly assessment. 

� ESCROW: The undersigned states that the manor is presently for sale, and will present a copy of the executed listing
agreement in conjunction with this agreement.  If the listing agreement expires before the manor is sold, a new executed 
listing agreement must be presented.  The total term of the payment plan under this option cannot exceed 90 days. 
Payment in full of the delinquent amount will be made from the proceeds of sale of the manor, through escrow.  Further, 
undersigned understands and agrees that accrued fees, charges and legal collection costs will be collected through escrow. 
This option allows a request for review by the Board of Directors for an extension. 

� OTHER: Member's payment plan proposal that is in accordance with the standards for payment plans adopted by the
Mutual:_______________________________________________. This will be in addition to the regular monthly 
assessment 

Initial All: 

� The undersigned understands that interest will accrue at the rate of 10% per annum, in accordance with the Collection
and Lien Enforcement Policy of the Mutual, until the delinquency is paid in full.  In addition, the undersigned shall pay 
an administrative fee of $25.00 for every month this agreement is in effect.  If this agreement is breached and the Board 
of Directors for the Mutual allows re-instatement, Owner will be responsible for payment of all attorneys' fees, costs, 
interest, late fees and assessments incurred as a result of said breach before this agreement will be deemed "paid in full." 

� The undersigned understands that the Mutual will pursue all available legal means to collect the sums due on the manor
including the recording of a lien for an additional cost of a minimum of $625 if the terms of this agreement are 
breached.   If any one payment is not received by the deadline stated, the Mutual shall, without any further notice to 
undersigned, have the power and authority to pursue any and all collection remedies against undersigned and/or 
undersigned's property, including but not limited to non-judicial foreclosure, judicial foreclosure, any remedies available, 
and a lawsuit for purposes of securing a money judgment.  Undersigned waives any and all claims against the Mutual 
and its agents and attorneys, and undersigned waives any and all defenses available related to or arising out of this mater, 
the amounts owed under this agreement, and any other obligation stated herein. 

� The undersigned understands that he or she has the right to meet with the Board of Directors of the Mutual to discuss a
reasonable alternative payment plan option (see the fourth option above), according to the payment plan standards 
adopted by the Board of Directors of the Mutual.

Member Name: _________________________ Signature: _________________________   Date:_____________ 

Mutual Officer Signature: _________________________   Date:_____________ 

Return signed form by mail to: Or deliver in person to: 
Assessment Payment Representative Assessment Payment Representative 
PO Box 2220 24351 El Toro Road
Laguna Woods, CA  92654-2220 Laguna Woods, CA 92637

Phone: (949) 597-4221  Fax: (949) 472-4154

 

  

 1 
 

 

  

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 15 of 32



Page 1 of 2 

DELINQUENT CHARGES - PAYMENT PLAN AGREEMENT 

Manor Number: __________ Charges Delinquency: _____________ 

This Payment Plan Agreement (this “Payment Agreement") is a binding contract and agreement and is executed by the undersigned, 
Third Laguna Hills Mutual (the "Mutual"), on the one hand, and __________________________ ("Owner"), on the other hand.  The 
Mutual and Owner may sometimes be collectively referred to as the "Parties." 

1. Scope of Agreement.  Owner is the legal owner of that certain real property commonly referred to as ______________________
(the "Subject Property").  This shall be a payment plan agreement between Owner and the Mutual, relative to the payment of all fines,
fees, monetary penalties, reimbursement assessments, charges, late fees, interest, attorneys' fees and costs of collection, accruing on the
Subject Property and owed by Owner to the Mutual on the account.  The total amount as of the date of this Payment Agreement is
$___________________.

2. Required Payments.  Owner shall tender an upfront payment in the amount of $________________ on or before
________________________.  Thereafter, Owner shall make the following monthly payments:

a. Payment of $__________ on or before ________________;

b. __________________________

3. Monthly Statements.  The Mutual shall not be obligated to send Owner monthly statements.

4. Continuing Monthly Assessments.  Owner shall pay all regular and special assessments that come due in a timely manner and in
addition to the payments required in paragraph 2 above.

5. Payment Destination.  All payments and assessments required pursuant to this Payment Agreement shall be paid and sent directly
to the Mutual.  Notwithstanding this paragraph, at any time during the course of this Payment Agreement, the Mutual may require Owner
to change the destination of the payments and the payee of such payments.

6. Sale; Refinance; Lien.  If the Subject Property is sold or refinanced, the balance owing on the account must be paid in full and
this Payment Agreement shall create a lien against the funds held in escrow relating to any such transaction.

7. Breach; Remedies.  If any one payment is not received by the deadline stated or if this Payment Agreement is breached in any
other way, the Mutual shall, after five days' written notice to Owner (or Owner's attorney, if applicable) by email transmission, have the
power and authority to pursue any and all collection remedies against Owner and/or Owner's property, including but not limited to non-
judicial foreclosure, judicial foreclosure, or a lawsuit for purposes of securing a money judgment. Any additional late fees, interest,
attorneys' fees and costs incurred will be charged to Owner's account.

8. Obligation to Pay All Charges.  If this Payment Agreement is breached and the Board of Directors for the Mutual allows re-
instatement, Owner will be responsible for payment of all attorneys' fees, costs, interest, late fees and other charges incurred as a result
of said breach before this agreement will be deemed "paid in full."

9. Contact Information.  Owner must keep the Mutual up to date regarding Owner's contact information and any changes to same.

10. Compliance with Governing Documents.  In addition to any obligation stated herein, Owner shall comply with the Mutual's
governing documents in all respects.  Any violation of the governing documents shall be considered a breach of this Payment Agreement.

11. Assignment of Rents.  Owner hereby irrevocably assigns to the Mutual, absolutely and regardless of possession of the property,
all money now due or to become due under any agreement for the use or occupation of the Subject Property, for the purpose of collecting
all assessments and amount owed pursuant to this Payment Agreement and the Mutual's governing documents, including late fees, costs,
interest, expenses and attorneys' fees which are in default.

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 16 of 32



Page 2 of 2 

12. Waiver of Defenses.  Owner acknowledges that all amounts claimed by the Mutual to be owed are in fact owed.  Owner waives
any defenses available related to or arising out of the Subject Property, the amounts owed under this Payment Agreement, and any other
obligation stated herein.

13. Homestead Waiver.  Owner, to the extent permitted by law, does hereby waive, to the extent of any liens created against Subject
Property and pursuant to law, whether such liens are now in existence or are created at any time in the future, the benefit of any homestead 
or exemption laws of the State of California now in effect, or in effect from time to time hereafter.

14. Not Construed against Drafter.  Neither the Mutual nor Owner shall be deemed to have been the drafter of this Agreement or
of any of the particular provisions or provisions hereof and no part of this Agreement shall be construed against the Mutual or Owner.

15. Laws of California; Severability of Provisions.  This Payment Agreement shall be controlled by and interpreted according to
the laws of the State of California.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall in no way affect the
validity or enforceability of any other provision or the remainder of this Agreement.

16. Binding on Successors.  The provisions of this Payment Agreement shall be deemed to obligate, extend to, and inure to the
benefit of the successors, assigns, transferees, granters, heirs and representatives of each of the persons and entities referred to herein.

17. Enforcement; Attorneys' Fees and Costs.  In the event litigation is commenced to enforce any of the provisions hereof or enforce
this Payment Agreement in any other way, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover attorney fees, costs and expenses from the
opposing party related to such litigation, including such amounts that accrue prior to the litigation being initiated.

The undersigned, the Mutual and Owner, have read the foregoing Payment Agreement, have had an opportunity to fully consider the 
rights and consequences regarding executing same, fully understand the terms of this Payment Agreement and knowingly and voluntarily 
execute this Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE MUTUAL AND OWNER CAUSE THIS PAYMENT AGREEMENT TO BE DULY EXECUTED 
ON THE DATE SET FORTH BELOW. 

[CAUTION: PLEASE READ THIS ENTIRE AGREEMENT CAREFULLY BEFORE SIGNING.] 

Print Name: _________________________________ 

DL#: ______________________________________ 

SS#: _______________________________________ 

Mailing Address: _____________________________ 

Cell Phone: __________________________________ 

E-Mail: _____________________________________

Member Signature: _________________________ Date: _____________ 

Mutual Officer Signature: ____________________ Date: _____________ 

Return signed form by mail to: Or deliver in person to: 
Payment Representative Payment Representative
PO Box 2220 24351 El Toro Road
Laguna Woods, CA  92654-2220 Laguna Woods, CA 92637

Phone: (949) 597-4221  Fax: (949) 472-4154

Attachment 1

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 17 of 32



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 18 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY AND 
PROCEDURES FOR ASSESSMENT DELINQUENCIES 

PURPOSE STATEMENT 

The following is a statement of the specific procedures, policies, and practices (“Policy Statement”) 
employed by Third Laguna Hills Mutual, a California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation (the 
“Mutual”) in enforcing lien rights or other legal remedies for default in payment of its assessments 
against its owners (“Members”). This Policy Statement is provided pursuant to the requirements of 
California Civil Code Section 5310(a)(7). 

The collection of delinquent assessments is of vital concern to all Members of the Mutual. Such efforts 
ensure that all Members pay their fair share of the costs of services and facilities provided and maintained 
by the Mutual. Members’ failure to pay assessments when due creates a cash-flow problem for the 
Mutual and causes those Members who make timely payment of their assessments to bear a 
disproportionate share of the community’s financial obligations. Special assessments must be received 
in a timely fashion in order to finance the needs for which said special assessments are imposed. 

Accordingly, in order to reduce the amount and duration of delinquencies and to encourage the prompt 
and full payment of all assessments, the Mutual has been vested with certain enforcement rights and 
remedies which are in addition to those which exist generally for creditors. These rights and remedies 
are described in this Policy Statement. 

FAILURE TO MAKE TIMELY PAYMENTS CAN RESULT IN THE IMPOSITION OF LATE 
CHARGES, INTEREST, COSTS OF COLLECTION, POSSIBLE RESULTANT LEGAL ACTION 
AND MEMBERS AGREE THAT THEY CAN BE REQUIRED TO REIMBURSE THE MUTUAL 
FOR SUCH LEGAL COSTS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER FORMAL LEGAL ACTION IS 
TAKEN. IT IS IN YOUR AND EVERY OTHER MEMBER’S BEST INTEREST FOR EACH OF YOU 
TO MAKE YOUR MONTHLY ASSESSMENT PAYMENTS ON TIME. 

REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE MUTUAL RECORDS A LIEN ON YOUR PROPERTY 
DURING THE COLLECTION OF PAST-DUE ASSESSMENTS, ALL MEMBERS HAVE A 
PERSONAL AND ONGOING OBLIGATION TO PAY ASSESSMENTS AND CHARGES. 

BASIC POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Delinquency reports are prepared monthly by the Mutual’s managing agent to the Mutual’s Board of 
Directors (“Board”), identifying the delinquent Member, and the amount and length of time the 
assessments have been in arrears. The policies and practices outlined in this Policy Statement shall 
remain in effect until such time as they may be changed, modified, or amended by a duly adopted 
resolution of the Board, or unless the applicable statutory scheme changes, in which event, this Policy 
Statement shall be construed so as to be consistent with any newly adopted statutes or court decisions. 
In accordance with the Mutual’s governing documents (including, without limitation, the Articles of 

Attachment 2

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 19 of 32



Attachment 2
2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 2 

Incorporation, the Bylaws, the recorded CC&Rs, rules and regulations, and written policies) 
(collectively, the “Governing Documents”) and the Civil Code, to ensure the prompt payment of monthly 
assessments, the Mutual employs the following collection and lien enforcement policies and procedures, 
including for the collection of assessments, late charges, interest, fees, and chargeable services charged 
against Members pursuant to the Governing Documents and current law: 

1. Assessment Due Date

Regular assessments (“Carrying Charges” as defined in Article 1, Section 8 of the CC&Rs) are due and 
payable to the Mutual, in advance, in equal monthly installments, on the first (1st) day of each month. It 
is each Member’s responsibility to pay assessments in full each month regardless of whether a billing 
statement is received. Special assessments shall be due and payable on the due date specified by the 
Board in the notice imposing the special assessment or in the ballot presenting the special assessment to 
the Members for approval. In no event shall a special assessment be due and payable earlier than thirty 
(30) days after the special assessment is duly imposed.

2. Reminder Notice

A monthly assessment becomes delinquent if it is not received by the Mutual on or before the close of 
business on the sixteenth (16th) day of the month (or, for special assessments, if it is not received by the 
Mutual on or before the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day after it is due). A written reminder 
notice may be sent and emailed to the Member. It is each Member’s responsibility to pay assessments in 
full each month regardless of whether a reminder notice is received. 

TO BE CONSIDERED TIMELY, PAYMENT MUST BE RECEIVED BY THE MUTUAL WITHIN 
THE FIFTEEN (15) DAY GRACE PERIOD. SIMPLY PLACING THE PAYMENT IN THE MAIL 
BEFORE THE GRACE PERIOD EXPIRES IS INSUFFICIENT. 

IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING, CHARGEABLE SERVICES ARE LATE IF NOT PAID 
WITHIN TWENTY-FIVE (25) DAYS AFTER BECOMING DUE. 

3. Administrative Collection Fee

It is the policy of the Mutual not to routinely waive any duly imposed late charges, interest, or actually 
incurred “Costs of Collection.” “Costs of Collection” as used in this Policy Statement include, without 
limitation, an administrative collection fee, currently in the amount of five hundred dollars ($500) (the 
“Administrative Collection Fee”), which is charged by the Mutual’s managing agent to cover staff’s 
costs to prepare files for delivery to the Mutual’s legal counsel and/or collection agent in order to carry 
out authorized legal and/or collection actions, as well as direct costs incurred in recording and/or mailing 
documents attendant to the legal and/or collection process. 

The Administrative Collection Fee may be increased by majority vote of the Mutual’s Board and may 
be collected by the Mutual’s legal counsel and/or collection agent on its behalf, and remitted to the 
Mutual’s managing agent, or may be directly collected by the Mutual’s managing agent. Any change to 
the Administrative Collection Fee shall not be deemed a change to this Policy and shall not require rule 
change or member review period procedures to be undertaken by the Board. 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 20 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 3 

4. Late Charge

IT IS THE MEMBER’S RESPONSIBILITY TO ALLOW AMPLE TIME TO DROP OFF OR MAIL 
ALL PAYMENTS SO THAT THEY ARE RECEIVED BEFORE THEY BECOME DELINQUENT. 
Any notices or invoices for assessments and/or special assessments will be sent to Members by first- 
class and/or certified mail addressed to the Member at his/her/their/its address as shown on the books 
and records of the Mutual. However, it is the Member’s responsibility to be aware of the assessment 
payment amounts and due dates and to advise the Mutual of any changes in the Member’s mailing 
address, pursuant to Civil Code Section 4041. 

A late payment charge for a delinquent assessment will be assessed in the amount of seventy-five dollars 
($75) and will be imposed on any assessment payment that is more than fifteen (15) days in arrears. 
Further, both Civil Code Section 5650 and the Mutual’s Governing Documents provide for interest on 
all sums imposed in accordance with Section 5650, including on delinquent assessment, reasonable fees 
and costs of collection, and reasonable attorney’s fees, which may be imposed thirty (30) days after the 
assessment is due, at an annual percentage rate of twelve percent (12%). Such interest may be imposed 
and collected regardless of whether the Member’s delinquent account is referred to the Mutual’s legal 
counsel and/or collection agent for handling. Non-assessment fines, fees, and chargeable services are 
also subject to a late fee and interest, in an amount determined by Board resolution. 

5. Demand Letter (aka Pre-Lien Notice)

If full payment of the delinquent amount is not received by the close of business on the day which is 
fifteen (15) days after the date of a reminder notice, as described in Section 2 above, or if no reminder 
notice was sent, then within thirty (30) days after the date when the delinquent amount became due, then 
a demand letter pursuant to Civil Code Section 5660 (a “Pre-Lien Notice”), as detailed below, will be 
sent to the Member by Certified Mail. The Mutual, through its managing agent, may also attempt to 
contact the Member by telephone to remind the Member of the delinquency and determine when 
payment will be made. However, no assurances can be given that the Mutual will in fact reach the 
Member by telephone, and the Member is responsible to pay off the delinquency whether or not a 
reminder notice or telephone reminder is actually received by the Member. 

6. Alternate Means to Collect Delinquent Sums

If full payment of the delinquent amount (such as a duly levied and imposed assessment, fine, fee, or 
chargeable service including associated late charges and interest) is not received by the close of business 
on the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of a demand letter for payment of same (and with respect to 
recording a lien against a Member’s separate interest in the condominium project (“Manor”), on the 
thirtieth (30th) day after receipt of a Pre-Lien Notice) the Mutual may, at its option, in accordance with 
the requirements and conditions herein and applicable law, and based on the circumstances of the 
delinquency, including but not limited to, the total delinquent amount owing and the Member’s payment 
history, undertake to collect the delinquency by: (1) suspending a Member’s right (and that of the 
Resident or Tenant of that Member’s Manor) to use Mutual or Golden Rain Foundation of Laguna 
Woods (“GRF”) facilities; (2) termination of the delinquent Member’s Membership in the Mutual as a 
result of any foreclosure, (3) legal actions, discussed further below, or (4) other means permitted by law. 

A demand letter and/or Pre-Lien Notice is presumed to have been received in the regular course of mail 
within five (5) days of mailing if the mailing address is within California and within ten (10) days if the 

Attachment 2

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 21 of 32



8. Lien

The Mutual may secure the delinquency by recording a notice of delinquent assessment (lien) on the 
owner’s Manor with the Orange County recorder. The debt shall be a lien on the owner’s Manor from 
and after the time the Mutual records a notice of delinquent assessment, which shall state: the amount of 
the assessment and other sums imposed in accordance with Civil Code Section 5650(b); a legal 
description of the owner’s Manor; and the name of the record owner of the Manor. 
An itemized statement of the debt owed by the owner, as described in Civil Code Section 5660(b), shall 
be recorded together with the notice of delinquent assessment. In order for the lien to be enforced by 
nonjudicial foreclosure as provided in Civil Code Sections 5700 to 5710, inclusive, the notice of 
delinquent assessment shall state the name and address of the trustee authorized by the Mutual to enforce 
the lien by sale of the Manor. The notice of delinquent assessment shall be signed by the person 
designated in the declaration or by the Mutual for that purpose, or if no one is designated, by the president 
of the Mutual. A copy of the recorded notice of delinquent assessment shall be mailed by certified mail 

Attachment 2
2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 4 

mailing address is within the United States but outside of California and within twenty (20) days if the 
mailing address is outside of the United States. 

The Mutual may, after following appropriate procedures prescribed by law and the Mutual’s Governing 
Documents, suspend a delinquent Member’s right to use facilities or receive services provided by the 
Mutual, or both, until the delinquency is paid in full, including interest, late charges, and/or Costs of 
Collection, as may have been imposed or incurred in a particular instance. Failure to pay in full such 
amounts may also result in suspension of certain Membership rights and the ability to use the facilities 
or services provided by GRF or by this Mutual. 

The Mutual may also take various legal actions to enforce the collection of delinquencies. THESE 
ACTIONS MAY BE TAKEN SEPARATELY OR CONCURRENTLY. 

7. Small Claims Court

A civil action in small claims court may be filed, with a management company representative or 
bookkeeper appearing and participating on behalf of the Mutual. 

PLEASE NOTE THAT A SMALL CLAIMS COURT ACTION MAY BE PURSUED BASED ON A 
BOARD RESOLUTION EITHER BEFORE OR AFTER RECORDING A NOTICE OF 
DELINQUENT ASSESSMENT (LIEN), AND/OR AFTER A WRITE-OFF. 

The amount that may be recovered in small claims court may not exceed the jurisdictional limits of the 
small claims court, and shall be the sum of the following: (a) the amount owed as of the date of filing of 
the complaint in the small claims court; and (b) in the discretion of the court, an additional amount equal 
to the amount owed for the period from the date the complaint is filed until satisfaction of the judgment, 
which total amount may include accruing unpaid assessments, fines, fees, or chargeable services, and 
any reasonable late charges, fees and Costs of Collection (including attorney’s fees), and interest, all up 
to the jurisdictional limits of the small claims court. 

Successive small claims court actions may be pursued, consistently with applicable laws, until the entire 
amount of the delinquency is recovered. 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 22 of 32



9. Foreclosure/ADR

After thirty (30) days following the recording of a delinquent assessment lien, the lien may be enforced 
in any manner permitted by law. Once the amount of delinquent assessments (not including any late 
charges, fees, interest, or Costs of Collection), exceeds One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars ($1,800), 
OR any unpaid assessments are more than twelve (12) months delinquent, then, subject to the conditions 
specified below, the Mutual may initiate foreclosure proceedings to collect the amounts owed. 

These conditions include that, prior to initiating a foreclosure, the Mutual shall offer the Member, and if 
so requested by the Member, the Mutual shall participate in dispute resolution pursuant to the Mutual’s 
“meet and confer” program, or alternative dispute resolution (ADR). THE DECISION TO PURSUE 
DISPUTE RESOLUTION OR A PARTICULAR TYPE OF ADR SHALL BE THE CHOICE OF THE 
MEMBER, EXCEPT THAT BINDING ARBITRATION SHALL NOT BE AVAILABLE IF THE 
MUTUAL INTENDS TO INITIATE A JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE. 

Civil Code Section 5965 requires the following statement to be included in this Policy Statement: 

“Failure of a member of the association to comply with the alternative dispute resolution 
requirements of Section 5930 of the Civil Code may result in the loss of the member’s 
right to sue the association or another member of the association regarding enforcement 
of the governing documents or the applicable law.” 

If any “meet and confer” session or ADR is engaged in by and between the Member and the Mutual (or 
any neutral third parties, as the case may be), and these efforts do not result in a payment plan, then, 
assuming the statutory minimum as to the delinquent amount or duration of the delinquency has been 
met, the Mutual may commence foreclosing the lien against the Member’s Manor and sell the Manor at 
a private sale or by a judicial sale. If this occurs, the Member may lose title to his/her/their/its Manor. 

10. Board Decision to Initiate Foreclosure

The decision to initiate foreclosure of a validly recorded delinquent assessment lien shall be made only 
by the Board and may not be delegated to an agent of the Mutual. The Board shall approve the decision 
by a majority vote of the Board in an executive session. The vote must be recorded in the minutes of the 
next meeting of the Board open to all Members; however, the confidentiality of the delinquent Member 
shall be maintained by identifying the matter in the minutes only by the Parcel Number, and not by the 
name of the delinquent Member. A Board vote to approve foreclosure of a lien shall take place at least 
thirty (30) days prior to any public sale or judicial foreclosure. 

If the Board votes to foreclose upon an owner’s Manor, the Board shall provide notice by personal 
service to an owner of a Manor if the owner occupies the Manor or to their legal representative. For a 
non-occupying owner, the Board shall provide written notice by first-class mail, postage prepaid, at the 

Attachment 2

2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 5 

to every person whose name is shown as an owner of the Manor in the Mutual’s records, and shall be 
mailed no later than ten (10) calendar days after recordation. 

If it is determined that the Mutual has recorded a lien for a delinquent assessment in error, the Mutual 
shall promptly reverse all related late charges, fees, interest, attorney’s fees, and Costs of Collection, and 
pay all costs incurred by the Mutual related to any related an internal dispute resolution (IDR) or 
alternative dispute resolution (ADR). 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 23 of 32



11. Non-Judicial Foreclosure/Right of Redemption

A non-judicial foreclosure by the Mutual to collect upon a debt for delinquent assessments is subject to 
a statutory right of redemption. The redemption period within which the Manor may be redeemed from 
a foreclosure sale ends ninety (90) days after the sale, per Civil Code Section 5715. 

If a foreclosure action is prosecuted to judgment and the judgment is in favor of the Mutual, assets of 
the Member may be seized or a lien may be placed on such assets to satisfy the judgment. Pursuant to 
the provisions of California law, applicable regulations, and the Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 
(CC&Rs), the delinquent amount, as well as late charges on the delinquent assessments and/or interest 
charges and/or Costs of Collection (including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees, title company and 
foreclosure service company charges, charges imposed to defray the cost of preparing and mailing 
demand letters (such as the Administrative Collection Fee), recording costs and costs associated with 
small claims court actions) may be enforced as a lien against the Member’s Manor. 

Moreover, pursuant to California law, monetary penalties that have been imposed by the Mutual as a 
means of reimbursing the Mutual for costs incurred by the Mutual in the repair of damage to common 
areas and/or community facilities for which a Member or a Member’s guests or tenants were responsible 
may also be enforced as a lien against the Member’s Manor. 

12. Prerequisites to Recording a Lien: Offer of IDR/ADR and Thirty (30) Day Pre-Lien Notice

Before a lien may be recorded against a Manor of a delinquent Member, the Mutual must offer the 
Member, and if so requested by the Member, the Mutual must participate in IDR pursuant to the Mutual’s 
“meet and confer” program (per the requirements set forth in Article 2 commencing with section 5900 
of Chapter 10) or ADR as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925 of Chapter 10), both in 
the Civil Code. 

Any choice by a Member to pursue IDR or any kind of ADR must be made by the Member’s delivery 
of written notice of such choice to the Mutual’s managing agent within thirty (30) days of any event 
which triggers a Member’s right to pursue IDR/ADR, whether it is before a lien can be recorded (i.e., 
upon receipt of the certified Pre-Lien Notice), or prior to initiating a foreclosure action, or in any other 
situation for which the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act or the Mutual’s Governing 
Documents authorize or allow a Member to choose IDR/ADR. A Member’s right to pursue IDR/ADR 
may be triggered by, among other things, a decision by the Board and/or Executive Hearing Committee, 
as applicable, following any right to appeal pursuant to the Mutual’s Appeal Policy. 

THE DECISION TO PURSUE IDR OR A PARTICULAR TYPE OF ADR SHALL BE THE CHOICE 
OF THE OWNER. However, binding arbitration is not available if the Mutual intends to initiate a 
judicial foreclosure. 

Attachment 2

2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 6 

most current address shown on the books of the Mutual. In the absence of written notification by a non- 
occupying owner to the Mutual, the address of the owner’s Manor may be treated as the owner’s mailing 
address. 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 24 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 7 

13. Pre-Lien Notice

Prior to recording a lien against a Member’s Manor, the Mutual must send the Member a certified notice 
providing information regarding the sums claimed as being delinquent (“Pre-Lien Notice”). No lien can 
be recorded until thirty (30) days after this Pre-Lien Notice has been given. 

The Pre-Lien Notice must include the following information (per Civil Code Section 5660): 

(a) A general description of the collection and lien enforcement procedures of the Mutual
and the method of calculation of the amount, a statement that the owner of the Manor has
the right to inspect the association records pursuant to Section 5205, and the following
statement in 14-point boldface type, if printed, or in capital letters, if typed;

“IMPORTANT NOTICE: IF YOUR SEPARATE INTEREST IS PLACED IN
FORECLOSURE BECAUSE YOU ARE BEHIND IN YOUR ASSESSMENTS, IT
MAY BE SOLD WITHOUT COURT ACTION.”

(b) An itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner, including items on the statement
which indicate the amount of any delinquent assessments, the fees and reasonable costs
of collection, reasonable attorney’s fees, any late charges, and interest, if any;

(c) A statement that the owner shall not be liable to pay the charges, interest, and costs of
collection, if it is determined the assessment was paid on time to the association;

(d) The right to request a meeting with the Board as provided in Section 5665;

(e) The right to dispute the assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute
resolution to the association pursuant to the association’s “meet and confer” program
required in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10;

(f) The right to request alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party pursuant to
Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925) of Chapter 10 before the association may
initiate foreclosure against the owner’s Manor, except that binding arbitration shall not
be available if the Association intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure;

14. Member’s Right to Request a Meeting with the Board, or IDR or ADR.

Upon receipt of the certified Pre-Lien Notice described above, the noticed Member has several possible 
courses of action that can be taken at this point in the collection process, such as: 

(a) The Member has the right to dispute the assessment debt by submitting a written request
for IDR to the Mutual pursuant to the Mutual’s “meet and confer” program, which is
required by Civil Code Sections 5900-5920;

(b) The Member may exercise his/her/their/its right to participate in ADR with a neutral third
party under Civil Code Sections 5925-5965 before the Mutual may initiate foreclosure
against the owner’s Manor, except that binding arbitration shall not be available if the
Mutual intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure;

Attachment 2

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 25 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 8 

(c) The Member has a right to submit a written request to meet with the Board to discuss a
payment plan for the delinquent assessment, as long as the request for a meeting is made
within fifteen (15) days following the postmark on the Mutual’s Pre-Lien Notice to the
Member. That meeting must take place within forty-five (45) days (calculated from the
postmark on the Member’s request) and must be conducted in executive session. When a
Member has made a timely request for a meeting to discuss a payment plan, the Mutual
must provide the requesting Member with the Mutual’s standards for payment plans, if
any standards have been adopted. There is no statutory authorization for the Board to
delegate this meeting obligation to a property manager, but the Board may designate a
committee of one or more directors to meet with the Member in a specially called
executive session meeting that will occur within forty-five (45) days of the Member’s
request.

15. Payment Plan Requests

Any Member who is unable to timely pay regular or special assessments is entitled to make a written 
request for a payment plan to the Mutual’s Board. A Member may also request to meet with the Board 
in executive session to discuss a payment plan if the payment plan request is mailed within fifteen (15) 
days of the postmark date of the Pre-Lien Notice. The Mutual’s Board will consider payment plan 
requests on a case-by-case basis and is under no obligation to grant payment plan requests. Payment 
plans may incorporate any assessments that accrue during the payment plan period. Payment plans may 
not impede the Mutual’s ability to record a lien on the Member’s Manor to secure payment of delinquent 
assessments. Additional late fees shall not accrue during the payment plan period if the Member is in 
compliance with the terms of the payment plan. In the event of a default on any payment plan, the Mutual 
may resume its efforts to collect the delinquent assessments from the time prior to entering into the 
payment plan. The Mutual reserves the right to impose reasonable conditions on any approvals for a 
payment plan and request that the delinquent Member provide disclosure of certain identifying 
information and other assets that may be used as additional security for the debt owed. 

16. Application of Payments

In accordance with state law payments received on delinquent assessments shall be applied to the 
Member’s account in the following order of priority: assessments owed, then fees and costs of collection, 
attorney’s fees, late charges, interest. Payments on  account of principal shall be applied in reverse order 
so that the oldest arrearages are retired first. Interest shall continue to accrue on unpaid balances of 
principal, and other costs and charges imposed in accordance with Civil Code Section 5655.   

17. Secondary Address

Members have a right and obligation to identify in writing to the Mutual a secondary address for purposes 
of collection notices delivered pursuant to the Mutual’s Policy Statement, and upon receipt of a proper 
written request from a Member identifying a secondary address that complies with Civil Code Section 
4041 and the Governing Documents, the Mutual must send additional notices to this secondary address. 
Pursuant to Civil Code Section 4041, Members must keep the Mutual updated with respect to any 
mailing or secondary address to which notices from the Mutual are to be delivered. If Members fail to 
provide such information to the Mutual, the Manor shall be deemed to be the address to which notices 
are to be delivered. 

Attachment 2

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 26 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 9 

18. No Right of Offset

There is no right of offset. This means that a Member may not withhold assessments and related charges 
owed to the Mutual on the alleged grounds that the Member would be entitled to recover money or 
damages from the Mutual based on some other obligation or some claim of another obligation. 

19. Returned Checks

The Mutual may charge the Member a twenty-five-dollar ($25) fee for the first check tendered to the 
Mutual that is returned unpaid by the Member’s bank, and thereafter, the Mutual may charge a thirty- 
five-dollar ($35) fee for any subsequent check that is returned based on insufficient funds. If a Member’s 
check cannot be negotiated for any reason, then the Mutual may also seek to recover damages of the 
greater of (a) one hundred dollars ($100); or (b) three (3) times the amount of the check up to one 
thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500) in accordance with Civil Code Section 1719. 

20. Charges and Fees Subject to Change

All charges and fees set forth in this Policy Statement are subject to change upon thirty (30) days prior 
written notice. 

21. Overnight Payments

The mailing address for overnight payment of assessments is: 

Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Attn: Assessment Payments 

24351 El Toro Road 
Laguna Woods, CA 92637 

22. Rights Reserved by Mutual

Although the matters set forth above summarize the policies and practices ordinarily employed to collect 
delinquent assessments, the Mutual reserves the right to employ other or additional policies and practices 
as may be necessary or appropriate when the uniqueness of the circumstances or habitualness of the 
delinquency so requires. 

23. Attachments

Notice of Assessments and Foreclosure (pursuant to Civil Code Section 5730): Attachment A. 

State Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 
disclosures: Attachment B. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

THIRD LAGUNA HILLS MUTUAL 

Attachment 2

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 27 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 10 

ATTACHMENT A 

NOTICE OF 
ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE 

The following notice is provided pursuant to California Civil Code Section 5730 

NOTICE ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE 

This notice outlines some of the rights and responsibilities of owners of property in common interest 
developments and the associations that manage them. Please refer to the sections of the Civil Code 
indicated for further information. A portion of the information in this notice applies only to liens recorded 
on or after January 1, 2003. You may wish to consult a lawyer if you dispute an assessment. 

ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE 

Assessments become delinquent fifteen (15) days after they are due, unless the governing documents 
provide for a longer time. The failure to pay association assessments may result in the loss of an owner’s 
property through foreclosure. Foreclosure may occur either as a result of a court action, known as judicial 
foreclosure, or without court action, often referred to as nonjudicial foreclosure. For liens recorded on 
and after January 1, 2006, an association may not use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure to enforce that 
lien if the amount of the delinquent assessments or dues, exclusive of any accelerated assessments, late 
charges, fees, attorney’s fees, interest, and costs of collection, is less than one thousand eight hundred 
dollars ($1,800). For delinquent assessments or dues in excess of one thousand eight hundred dollars 
($1,800) or more than 12 months delinquent, an association may use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure 
subject to the conditions set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5700) of Chapter 8 of Part 5 of 
Division 4 of the Civil Code. When using judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association records a 
lien on the owner’s property. The owner’s property may be sold to satisfy the lien if the amounts secured 
by the lien are not paid. (Sections 5700 through 5720 of the Civil Code, inclusive) 

In a judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association may recover assessments, reasonable costs of 
collection, reasonable attorney’s fees, late charges, and interest. The association may not use nonjudicial 
foreclosure to collect fines or penalties, except for costs to repair common area damaged by a member 
or a member’s guests, if the governing documents provide for this. (Section 5725 of the Civil Code) 

The association must comply with the requirements of Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of 
Chapter 8 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code when collecting delinquent assessments. If the 
association fails to follow these requirements, it may not record a lien on the owner’s property until it 
has satisfied those requirements. Any additional costs that result from satisfying the requirements are the 
responsibility of the association. (Section 5675 of the Civil Code) 

At least thirty (30) days prior to recording a lien on an owner’s separate interest, the association must 
provide the owner of record with certain documents by certified mail, including a description of its 
collection and lien enforcement procedures and the method of calculating the amount. It must also 
provide an itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner. An owner has a right to review the 
association’s records to verify the debt. (Section 5660 of the Civil Code) 

Attachment 2

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 28 of 32



Attachment 2

2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 11 

If a lien is recorded against an owner’s property in error, the person who recorded the lien is required to 
record a lien release within twenty-one (21) days, and to provide an owner certain documents in this 
regard. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code) 

The collection practices of the association may be governed by state and federal laws regarding fair debt 
collection. Penalties can be imposed for debt collection practices that violate these laws. 

PAYMENTS 

When an owner makes a payment, the owner may request a receipt, and the association is required to 
provide it. On the receipt, the association must indicate the date of payment and the person who received 
it. The association must inform owners of a mailing address for overnight payments. (Section 5655 of 
the Civil Code) 

An owner may, but is not obligated to, pay under protest any disputed charge or sum levied by the 
association, including, but not limited to, an assessment, fine, penalty, late fee, collection cost, or 
monetary penalty imposed as a disciplinary measure, and by so doing, specifically reserve the right to 
contest the disputed charge or sum in court or otherwise. 

An owner may dispute an assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute resolution to the 
association as set forth in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10 of Part 5 of Division 
4 of the Civil Code. In addition, an association may not initiate a foreclosure without participating in 
alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 
5925) of Chapter 10 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code, if so requested by the owner. Binding 
arbitration shall not be available if the association intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure. 

An owner is not liable for charges, interest, and costs of collection, if it is established that the assessment 
was paid properly on time. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code) 

MEETINGS AND PAYMENT PLANS 

An owner of a separate interest that is not a time-share interest may request the association to consider 
a payment plan to satisfy a delinquent assessment. The association must inform owners of the standards 
for payment plans, if any exists. (Section 5665 of the Civil Code) 

The board must meet with an owner who makes a proper written request for a meeting to discuss a 
payment plan when the owner has received notice of a delinquent assessment. These payment plans must 
conform with the payment plan standards of the association, if they exist. (Section 5665 of the Civil 
Code) 

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 29 of 32



2023 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Page 12 

ATTACHMENT B 

The following Disclosure is made pursuant to California Civil Code Sections 1812.700-1812.703. 

“The State Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices 
Act require that, except under unusual circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or 
after 9 p.m. They may not harass you by using threats of violence or arrest or by using obscene language. 
Collectors may not use false or misleading statements or call you at work if they know or have reason to 
know that you may not receive personal calls at work. For the most part, collectors may not tell another 
person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt. Collectors may contact another person to 
confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more information about debt collection activities, you 
may contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www.ftc.gov.” 

Attachment 2

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 30 of 32

http://www.ftc.gov/


RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 

2023 Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy 

WHEREAS, in accordance with California Civil Code, Third Laguna 
Hills Mutual maintains a collection and lien enforcement policy that 
outlines the procedures, policies and practices employed by the Mutual 
in enforcing lien rights or other legal remedies for default in payment of 
assessments; and 

WHEREAS, legal counsel has reviewed the existing Collection and 
Lien Enforcement Policy and determined that the updated policy 
complies with Civil Code requirements and reflects current practices 
for collection of Mutual delinquencies. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, October 18, 2022, that the Board 
of Directors hereby adopts the 2023 Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy as attached to the official 
minutes of this meeting; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, the policy statement is provided pursuant to 
the requirements of California Civil Code section 5310(a)(7) and 
will be distributed to members in November 2022 as part of the Annual 
Policy Statement. 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this 
Corporation are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to 
carry out this resolution. 

Attachment 3

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 31 of 32



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 11c 
Page 32 of 32



ENDORSEMENT (to board)  

Revised Architectural Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors 

Baltazar Mejia, Maintenance & Construction Assistant Director, presented the staff report 
and answered questions from the committee. 

A motion was made and carried unanimously to recommend the board approve the 
revised Architectural Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors. 

Third Laguna Hills Mutual
Architectural Controls and Standards Committee
August 22, 2022

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 1 of 16



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 2 of 16



STAFF REPORT 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

DATE:         October 18, 2022 
FOR:           Board of Directors  
SUBJECT:  Revised Architectural Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt a Resolution approving revisions to Architectural Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors. 

BACKGROUND 
Architectural Standard No. 10 dictates the permitted type and color for doors.  The 
Standard was originally adopted in 1989 and has been revised a number of times with the 
last revision in March 2018 with Resolution No. 03-18-40 (Attachment 1). A copy of the current 
Standard is included as Attachment 2. 

On August 22, 2022, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee 
(ACSC) reviewed the proposed revisions to Standard No. 10 and unanimously recommended 
that the Board approve the revised Standard. 

DISCUSSION 
The number of manor remodels has increased in the last few years and with it is the 
implementation of more modern concepts in space utilization and modernization. 
Associated with this and newly adopted exterior colors for the various buildings in the Mutual, 
the number of requests for new colors for front doors has increased. However, Standard No. 
10 – Exterior Doors, as currently written, only allows colors that match current colors of the 
building or trim, or be white. 

The ACSC has considered the requests for additional exterior door colors and 
recommends approving the following updated list of colors for Standard No. 10 – Exterior 
Doors: 

1. White.
2. Natural or stained (oak, maple, walnut, cherry, etc.) wood finish.
3. The current color of the building or trim.
4. Black.
5. Any of the new door colors approved, or reasonably similar, but not yet painted 

(Attachment 3).
6. Commonly used colors as per door manufacturer.

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 3 of 16



Prepared By:   Baltazar Mejia, Maintenance & Construction Assistant Director 

Reviewed By:  Robbi Doncost, Manor Alterations Manager  

ATTACHMENT(S) 

Attachment 1 – Current Resolution 03-18-40  
Attachment 2 – Current Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors  
Attachment 3 – Color Board 
Attachment 4 – Redlined Revised Resolution 03-22-XX 
Attachment 5 – Revised Resolution 03-22-XX 
Attachment 6 – Revised Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors 

Third Laguna Woods Mutual  
Revised Architectural Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors 
October 18, 2022   
Page 2 

7. Colors approved via the variance process.

A redlined copy of Resolution No. 03-18-40 is attached for reference as Attachment 
4. The proposed Resolution 03-22-XX (Attachment 5) if enacted by the board would
serve to update the existing Architectural Standard No. 10 – Exterior Doors
(Attachment 6).

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
A small decrease in maintenance cost to the Mutual will be realized, as these 
alterations would become the responsibility of the manor owner. 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 4 of 16



Attachment 1 – Current Resolution 03-18-40 

RESOLUTION 03-18-40 
Revise Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior (Swing) 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee recognizes 
the necessity to amend Alteration Standards and create new Alteration 
Standards as necessary; and, 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee recognizes 
the need to revise Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, March 23, 2018, that the Board of 
Directors of this Corporation hereby adopts revisions and amendments to 
Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior (Swing); 

2.0 TYPES OF DOORS 
2.1 All doors shall be of solid core 1-1/2" minimum thickness with exterior 
grade hardware. 

2.2 Dutch doors, split doors and French doors may be allowed provided 
any and all required permits are obtained through the City of Laguna Woods 
and the Alterations Division office. All costs of maintenance shall be borne by 
the Mutual member. 

2.3 Glass in entry doors may be allowed provided it follows the standards 
set for such installation as required by the current California Building Code. 

2.4 Door trim shall not exceed 3" in width unless prior approval is obtained 
from the Alterations Division. 

3.0 APPLICATIONS 
3.1            Doors shall be of wood, fiberglass or vinyl clad material. Doors shall 
be the body or trim color of the building, or be white. Doors may have natural 
or stained wood finish. 

3.2 Screen door additions are acceptable. 

3.3 Door frames may not be replaced. Exterior doors shall only be 
allowed in existing openings. For existing openings wider than 36", doors with 
accompanying sidelights may be used. 

3.4 Any required irrigation or landscaping modifications resulting from 
the door (or required landing) installation must be performed by the Agent's 
Landscaping Division, at the Mutual member's expense. 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 5 of 16



3.5 Exterior doors shall only be allowed in existing openings. For existing 
openings wider than 36", doors with accompanying sidelights may be used. 

3.6 Existing header height must remain unchanged; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, Resolution 03-02-22, adopted March 18, 2003, is 
hereby superseded and canceled; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are 
hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this resolution as 
written.

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 6 of 16

Attachment 1



Attachment 2 - Current Standard No. 10 

SECTION 10 DOORS, EXTERIOR (SWING) 

JANUARY 1989 
REVISED AUGUST 2002, RESOLUTION M3-02-38 
REVISED MARCH 2003, RESOLUTION 03-02-22 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS REVISED APRIL 2011, RESOLUTION 03-11-49 
GENERAL REQUIREMENTS REVISED JANUARY 2018, RESOLUTION 03-18-12 

REVISED MARCH 2018, RESOLUTION 03-18-40 

1.0 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

See Standard Section 1: General Requirements 

2.0 TYPES OF DOORS 

2.1 All doors shall be of solid core 1-1/2" minimum thickness with exterior 
grade hardware. 

2.2 Dutch doors, split doors and French doors may be allowed provided any 
and all required permits are obtained through the City of Laguna Woods 
and the Permits and Inspections office. All costs of maintenance shall 
be borne by the Mutual member. 

2.3 Glass in entry doors may be allowed provided it follows the standards 
set for such installation as required by the current California Building 
Code. 

2.4 Door trim shall not exceed 3” in width unless prior approval is obtained 
from the Alterations Department 

3.0 APPLICATIONS 

3.1 All doors shall be of wood, fiberglass, or vinyl clad materials. Doors shall 
be the body or trim color of the building, or be white. Doors may have 
natural or stained wood finish. 

3.2 Screen door additions are acceptable. 

3.3 Door frames may not be replaced. Exterior doors shall only be allowed 
in existing openings. For existing openings wider than 36”, doors with 
accompanying sidelights may be used. 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 7 of 16



3.4 Any required irrigation or landscaping modifications resulting from the 
door (or required landing) installation must be performed by the Agent’s 
Landscaping Division, at the Mutual member’s expense. 

3.5 Exterior doors shall only be allowed in existing openings. For existing 
openings wider than 36”, doors with accompanying sidelights may be 
used. 

3.6 Existing header height must remain unchanged. 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 8 of 16

Attachment 2



Attachment 3 – Color Board 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 9 of 16



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 10 of 16



Attachment 4 – Redlined Revised Resolution 03-22-XX 

RESOLUTION 03-18-40 03-22-XX 
Revise Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior (Swing) 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee 
recognizes the necessity to amend Alteration Standards and create new 
Alteration Standards as necessary; and, 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee 
recognizes the need to revise Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, 
Exterior. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, March 23, 2018 [DATE], that the 
Board of Directors of this Corporation hereby adopts revisions and 
amendments to Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior (Swing); 

2.0 TYPES OF DOORS 
2.1 All doors shall be of solid core 1-1/2" minimum thickness with 
exterior grade hardware. Metal doors and other composite materials are 
also allowed provided that they meet current California Building Code 
requirements for entry doors. 

2.2 Dutch doors, split doors, double doors and French doors may 
be allowed provided any and all required permits are obtained through 
the City of Laguna Woods and the Alterations Division office. All costs 
of maintenance shall be borne by the Mutual member. 

2.3 Glass in entry doors and other modern designs may be allowed 
provided it follows the standards set for such installation as required by 
the current California Building Code. 

2.4 Door trim shall not exceed 3" be approximately 3.5” in width unless 
prior approval is obtained from the Alterations Division. 

2.5 All costs of maintenance shall be borne by the Mutual member. 

3.0 APPLICATIONS 
3.1            Doors shall be of wood, fiberglass, metal, vinyl clad material or 
other composite materials. Doors shall be: the body or trim color of the 
building, or be white. Doors may have natural or stained wood finish.   

1. White.
2. Natural or stained (oak, maple, walnut, cherry, etc.) wood

finish.
3. The current color of the building or trim.
4. Black. Agenda Item #12a 

Page 11 of 16



5. Any of the new door colors approved, or reasonably
similar, but not yet painted.

6. Commonly used door colors as per the door manufacturer.
7. Colors approved via the variance process.

3.2 Screen door additions are acceptable. 

3.3 Door frames may not be replaced if pre-hung doors are being 
used as replacements. Exterior doors shall only be allowed in existing 
openings. For existing openings wider than 36", doors with 
accompanying sidelights may be used. 

3.4 Any required irrigation or landscaping modifications resulting 
from the door (or required landing) installation must be performed by the 
Agent's Landscaping Division, at the Mutual member's expense. 

3.5 Exterior doors shall only be allowed in existing openings. For 
existing openings wider than 36", doors with accompanying sidelights 
may be used. 

3.6 Existing header height must remain unchanged; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, Resolution 03-02-22, adopted March 18, 2003, 
is hereby superseded and canceled; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation 
are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this 
resolution as written.

SEPTEMBER INITIAL NOTIFICATION: Should the Board endorse the 
proposed revisions, Staff recommends that a motion be made and 
seconded to accept the resolution and allow discussion to ensure that 
the resolution reads to the satisfaction of the Board.  Staff then 
recommends that a Board Member postpones the resolution to the 
next available Board Meeting no less than 28-days from the 
postponement to comply with Civil Code §4360. 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 12 of 16

Attachment 4



Attachment 5 – Revised Resolution 03-22-XX 

RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 
Revise Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior (Swing) 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee 
recognizes the necessity to amend Alteration Standards and create new 
Alteration Standards as necessary; and, 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Controls and Standards Committee 
recognizes the need to revise Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, 
Exterior; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, [DATE], that the Board of 
Directors of this Corporation hereby adopts revisions and amendments 
to Alteration Standard Section 10 - Doors, Exterior (Swing); and 

2.0 TYPES OF DOORS 
2.1 All doors shall be of solid core 1-1/2" minimum thickness with 
exterior grade hardware.  Metal doors and other composite materials are 
also allowed provided that they meet current California Building Code 
requirements for entry doors. 

2.2 Dutch doors, split doors, double doors and French doors may 
be allowed provided any and all required permits are obtained through 
the City of Laguna Woods and the Alterations Division office. 

2.3 Glass in entry doors and other modern designs may be allowed 
provided it follows the standards set for such installation as required by 
the current California Building Code. 

2.4 Door trim shall be approximately 3.5" in width unless prior 
approval is obtained from the Alterations Division. 

2.5 All costs of maintenance shall be borne by the Mutual member. 

3.0  APPLICATIONS 
3.1  Doors shall be of wood, fiberglass, metal, or vinyl clad material or 
other composite materials. Doors shall be: 

1. White.
2. Natural or stained (oak, maple, walnut, cherry, etc.) wood

finish.
3. The current color of the building or trim.
4. Black.
5. Any of the new colors approved, or reasonably similar,

but not yet painted. Agenda Item #12a 
Page 13 of 16



6. Commonly used door colors as per the door
manufacturer.

7. Colors approved via the variance process.

3.2 Screen door additions are acceptable.

3.3 Door frames may be replaced if pre-hung doors are being used 
as replacements. 

3.4 Any required irrigation or landscaping modifications resulting 
from the door (or required landing) installation must be performed by the 
Agent's Landscaping Division, at the Mutual member's expense. 

3.5 Exterior doors shall only be allowed in existing openings. For 
existing openings wider than 36", doors with accompanying sidelights 
may be used. 

3.6 Existing header height must remain unchanged; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, Resolution 03-18-40, adopted March 23, 2018, 
is hereby superseded and canceled; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation 
are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this 
resolution as written.

SEPTEMBER INITIAL NOTIFICATION: 
28-day notification for member review and comments to comply with Civil Code §4360 has 
been satisfied

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 14 of 16

Attachment 5



Attachment 6 - Revised Standard No. 10 

SECTION 10 DOORS, EXTERIOR (SWING) 

JANUARY 1989 
REVISED AUGUST 2002, RESOLUTION M3-02-38 
REVISED MARCH 2003, RESOLUTION 03-02-22 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS REVISED APRIL 2011, RESOLUTION 03-11-49 
GENERAL REQUIREMENTS REVISED JANUARY 2018, RESOLUTION 03-18-12 

REVISED MARCH 2018, RESOLUTION 03-18-40 
REVISED SEPTEMBER 2022, RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 

1.0 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

See Standard Section 1: General Requirements 

2.0 TYPES OF DOORS 

2.1 All doors shall be of solid core 1-1/2" minimum thickness with exterior grade 
hardware. Metal doors and other composite materials are also allowed 
provided that they meet current California Building Code requirements for 
entry doors.   

2.2 Dutch doors, split doors, double doors and French doors may be allowed provided 
any and all required permits are obtained through the City of Laguna Woods and 
the Permits and Inspections office. All costs of maintenance shall be borne by the 
Mutual member. 

2.3 Glass in entry doors and other modern designs may be allowed provided it follows 
the standards set for such installation as required by the current California 
Building Code. 

2.4 Door trim shall be approximately 3.5” in width unless prior approval is obtained 
from the Alterations Division. 

2.5 All costs of maintenance shall be borne by the Mutual member. 

3.0 APPLICATIONS 

3.1 Doors shall be of wood, fiberglass, metal, or vinyl clad material or other 
composite materials. Doors shall be: 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 15 of 16



1. White.
2. Natural or stained (oak, maple, walnut, cherry, etc.) wood

finish.
3. The current color of the building or trim.
4. Black.
5. Any of the new door colors approved, or reasonably similar, but

not yet painted.
6. Commonly used door colors as per the door manufacturer.
7. Colors approved via the variance process.

3.2 Screen door additions are acceptable. 

3.3 Door frames may be replaced if pre-hung doors are being used as 
replacements. 

3.4 Any required irrigation or landscaping modifications resulting from the door (or 
required landing) installation must be performed by the Agent’s Landscaping Division, 
at the Mutual member’s expense. 

3.5 Exterior doors shall only be allowed in existing openings. For existing openings 
wider than 36”, doors with accompanying sidelights may be used. 

3.6 Existing header height must remain unchanged. 

Agenda Item #12a 
Page 16 of 16

Attachment 6



Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Maintenance & Construction Committee 
September 12, 2022 
 
ENDORSEMENT (to board)  
 
Request for Supplemental Appropriation for Shepherd’s Crook Conditional Use 
Permit Amendment 
 
Manuel Gomez, Director of Maintenance and Construction, presented a staff report 
requesting the committee approve and endorse a supplemental appropriation in the 
amount of $10,000 from the Replacement Reserve Fund for the Conditional Use Permit 
application to be processed with the City of Laguna Woods to revise the Shepherd’s 
Crook height restriction contained in CUP-1135 from 7 feet to 11 feet.  
 
On September 12, 2022, the Third M&C Committee, by a vote of 2/1/0 (Directors Cook 
and Bhada in favor; Director Laws opposed) approved a motion recommending the 
Board approve the request for a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $10,000 
for the City required application process. 
 
 

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 1 of 16



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 2 of 16



Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Finance Committee 
October 4, 2022 
 
ENDORSEMENT (to board)  
 
Request for Supplemental Appropriation for Shepherd’s Crook Conditional Use 
Permit Amendment 
 
Manuel Gomez, Director of Maintenance and Construction, presented a staff report 
requesting the committee approve and endorse a supplemental appropriation in the 
amount of $10,000 from the Replacement Reserve Fund for the Conditional Use Permit 
application to be processed with the City of Laguna Woods to revise the Shepherd’s 
Crook height restriction contained in CUP-1135 from 7 feet to 11 feet. A motion was 
made by Director Ralph Engdahl and seconded by Director Annie McCary to accept the 
request.  
 
The motion passed unanimously to approve and endorse the recommendation and 
present at the next board meeting.  
 
 

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 3 of 16



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 4 of 16



STAFF REPORT 

DATE: October 18, 2022 
FOR: Board of Directors 
SUBJECT: Request for Supplemental Appropriation for Shepherd’s Crook Conditional 

Use Permit Amendment 

RECOMMENDATION 
Approve a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $10,000 from the Replacement 
Reserve Fund for the proposed Conditional Use Permit (CUP) amendment application process 
with the City of Laguna Woods to revise the height restriction contained in CUP-1135 from 7 
feet up to 11 feet measured from either side of the perimeter wall. 

BACKGROUND 
In May 2017, the City of Laguna Woods issued CUP-1135 (Attachment 1) governing the 
replacement of barbed-wire fencing with wrought-iron shepherd’s crook fence. The CUP limits 
the height of the shepherd’s crook installation to a height of 7 feet “when viewed from adjoining 
properties.” This is interpreted to require the measurement of the fence height from the exterior 
side of the perimeter walls.  Third Mutual has approximately 33,760 linear feet of fencing to be 
replaced. To date, 7,000 linear feet of shepherd’s crook has been installed with 26,760 linear 
feet remaining to be completed. 

Several residents in Gate 11 have expressed safety concerns due to the height of recently 
installed shepherd’s crook fence at certain locations. The concerns arise at locations where the 
ground level is higher on the inside of the wall and at places where utility boxes are located 
adjacent to the exterior walls (Attachment 2). Staff estimates that approximately 10% (2,700 
l.f.) of the remaining areas would benefit from a higher fence installation to address similar
potential safety concerns.

On September 12, 2022, the Third M&C Committee, by a vote of 2/1/0 (Directors Cook and 
Bhada in favor; Director Laws opposed), approved a motion recommending the Board approve 
the request for a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $10,000 for the City required 
application process. 

On October 4, 2022, the Third Finance Committee unanimously approved recommending the 
Board consider approving the use of Replacement Reserve Funds for the proposed 
supplemental budget appropriation.       

DISCUSSION 
The existing CUP limits the height of the fencing installations to 7 feet measured from the 
exterior side of the perimeter walls.  Staff is recommending that the mutual authorize the 
submittal of an application to the City requesting that the height restriction be revised or 
amended to allow for: 

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 5 of 16



Third Laguna Hills Mutual 
Shepherd’s Crook Conditional Use Permit Application 
October 18, 2022 
Page 2 
 
 

1. The height restriction to be measured from the highest ground level on either side of the 
wall, and 

2. Allow for a height of up to 11 feet at locations where the presence of utility structures 
create a potential trespassing risk. 

 
The City application process requires an initial fee deposit of $6,000 to process the application.  
It is anticipated that the City will also require the mutual to submit engineering plans to confirm 
the structural integrity of the proposed installations for any wall extension higher than the 
currently allowed 7 feet.  Staff recommends allocating an additional $4,000 for a total of 
$10,000 to cover the cost of the application fee and preparing structural plans, if needed. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
A supplemental appropriation from the Replacement Reserve Fund in the amount of $10,000 
will be needed if the board approves the submittal of the recommended CUP amendment 
application. 
 
The current contract price for shepherd’s crook installations up to 7 feet in height is 
approximately $120 per linear foot. Bid pricing would need to be obtained for installations at 
specific locations that are selected to receive fencing up to 11 feet in height.  Staff estimates 
the cost for these installations to be in the range of $200 per linear foot.  The 2023 Business 
Plan includes an allocation of $35,000 for the shepherd’s crook program in 2023. 
 
 
Prepared By:  Bart Mejia, Maintenance & Construction Assistant Director   
 
     
Reviewed By:  Eric Nunez, Director of Security Services 
     Steve Hormuth, Director of Financial Services 
     
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Attachment 1: Conditional Use Permit CUP-1135 
Attachment 2: Shepherd’s Crook Presentation 
Attachment 3: Resolution – Supplemental Appropriation for CUP Amendment 

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 6 of 16



ATTACHMENT 1 - CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT CUP-1135

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 7 of 16



ATTACHMENT 1

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 8 of 16



ATTACHMENT 1

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 9 of 16



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 10 of 16



L
a

g
u

n
a

 W
o

o
d

s 
V

il
la

g
e

 –
 S

h
e

p
h

e
rd

's 
C

ro
o

k
 F

e
n

ci
n

g

ATTACHMENT 2 - SHEPHERD'S CROOK PRESENTATION

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 11 of 16



2

S
A

N
T

A
 M

A
R

IA

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

7
’-

7
”

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
  
H

E
IG

H
T

: 
7

’

U
T

IL
T

Y
 B

O
X

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

4
’ 

-
7

”

U
T

IL
T

Y
 D

IS
T

 T
O

 W
A

L
L

: 
2

’ 
-

6
”

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 H

E
IG

H
T

S
: 

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

1
1

’-
7

’

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

: 
1
1

’

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

7
’-

3
”

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

: 
7

’

U
T

IL
T

Y
 B

O
X

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

4
’

U
T

IL
T

Y
 D

IS
T

 T
O

 W
A

L
L

: 
7

”

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 H

E
IG

H
T

S
: 

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

1
1

’-
3

”

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

: 
1
1

’

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

8
’

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

: 
7

’

U
T

IL
T

Y
 B

O
X

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

3
’-

5
”
, 

4
’

U
T

IL
T

Y
 D

IS
T

 T
O

 W
A

L
L

: 
7

”
 -

9
”

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 H

E
IG

H
T

S
: 

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

1
2

’

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

: 
1
1

’

1
2

3

ATTACHMENT 2

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 12 of 16



3

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

5
’

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

: 
7

’

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 H

E
IG

H
T

S
: 

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
: 

7
’

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

: 
9

’

4

B
5

3
0

9

ATTACHMENT 2

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 13 of 16



4

7
’-

0
” 

a
s 

m
e

a
su

re
d

 f
ro

m
 

th
e

 h
i g

h
e

st
 g

ro
u

n
d

7
’-

0
” 

a
s 

m
e

a
su

re
d

 f
ro

m
 

th
e

 h
ig

h
e

st
 g

ro
u

n
d

1
1

’

T
Y

P
IC

A
L

F
E

N
C

E
P

R
O

F
IL

E
A

S
M

E
A

S
U

R
E

D
F

R
O

M
T

H
E

H
IG

H
E

S
T

G
R

O
U

N
D

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N

T
Y

P
IC

A
L

F
E

N
C

E
P

R
O

F
IL

E
A

S
M

E
A

S
U

R
E

D
F

R
O

M
T

H
E

H
IG

H
E

S
T

G
R

O
U

N
D

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
 A

T
 U

T
IL

IT
Y

 S
T

R
U

C
T

U
R

E
S

ATTACHATTACHMENT 2

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 14 of 16



ATTACHMENT 3 - RESOLUTION 

Resolution 03-22-XX 

Supplemental Appropriation for  
CUP Amendment for Shepherd’s Crook Installations 

WHEREAS, in May 2017, the City of Laguna Woods issued CUP-1135 governing the 
replacement of barbed-wire fencing with wrought-iron shepherd’s crook fence; and   

WHEREAS, the CUP limits the height of the shepherd’s crook installation to a height of 
7 feet when viewed from adjoining properties; and      

WHEREAS, staff recommends that the mutual authorize the submittal of an application 
to the City of Laguna Woods requesting that the height restriction be revised or 
amended to allow for the height restriction to be measured from the highest ground level 
on either side of the wall and allow for a height of up to 11 feet at locations where the 
presence of utility structures create a potential trespassing risk; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, on November 15, 2022, the Board of Directors 
of this Corporation hereby authorizes a supplemental appropriation in the amount of 
$10,000, for the City application process; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that funding in the amount of $10,000 from the Replacement 
Reserve Fund will be used for this project; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, a supplemental appropriation is authorized from the Reserve 
Fund in the amount of $10,000; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution. 

OCTOBER INITIAL NOTIFICATION: 
Should the Board endorse the proposed revisions, Staff recommends that a motion be made 
and seconded to accept the resolution and allow discussion to ensure that the resolution 
reads to the satisfaction of the Board.  Staff then recommends that a Board Member postpones 
the resolution to the next available Board Meeting no less than 28-days from the postponement to 
comply with Civil Code §4360. 

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 15 of 16



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 13a 
Page 16 of 16



 

 

  

 

RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 
 

Third Mutual Committee Appointments 
 

RESOLVED, October 18, 2022, that the following persons are hereby appointed to 
serve on the committees and services of this Corporation. 

RESOLVED FURTHER, that each committee chair may appoint additional members 
and advisors with interim approval by the President subject to the approval of the 
Board of Directors: 

Finance Committee 
Donna Rane-Szostak, Chair 
Mark Laws 
Annie McCary 
Ralph Engdahl 
Cris Prince 
Cush Bhada 
Jim Cook 
Ira Lewis 
Jules Zalon 
Non-Voting Advisors: Wei-Ming Tao  
 
Architectural Standards and Control Committee 
James Cook, Chair 
John Frankel 
Cush Bhada 
Ralph Engdahl  
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 
Cris Prince  
Non-Voting Advisors: Mike Butler, Mike Plean, Lisa Mills 
 
Landscape Committee  
Nathaniel Ira Lewis, Chair 
Annie McCary  
Jules Zalon 
Ralph Engdahl 
Donna Rane-Szostak  
Cush Bhada, Alternate 
Non-Voting Advisors: Cindy Baker 

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 1 of 8



 
Maintenance and Construction Committee 
Ralph Engdahl, Chair  
James Cook 
Cush Bhada  
Mark Laws 
John Frankel 
Cris Prince, Alternate  
Non-voting Advisors: David Bienek, Judith Troutman 
 
Executive Hearing Committee 
Annie McCary, Chair  
Ralph Engdahl  
Mark Laws 
John Frankel, Alternate  
Cris Prince, Alternate 
Jules Zalon, Alternate 
 
Resident Policy and Compliance Committee 
Mark Laws, Chair 
Cush Bhada 
Jules Zalon 
Cris Prince 
Nathaniel Ira Lewis, Alternate 
Non-Voting Advisors: Stuart Hack 
 
Water Conservation Committee 
Donna Rane-Szostak, Chair  
John Frankel 
Cush Bhada 
Jules Zalon 
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 
Non-Voting Advisor: Lee Goldstein 
 
Garden Villa Recreation Room Subcommittee 
Mark Laws, Chair 
Donna Rane-Szostak  
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 
Voting Advisors: Martina Mangan, Sharon Molineri 
Non-Voting Advisors: Lynn Jarrett 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 2 of 8



Parking & Golf Cart Committee 
Cush Bhada, Chair  
John Frankel 
Mark Laws 
Ralph Engdahl, Alternate 
Non-Voting Advisor: Hal Horne 
 
Communications Committee 
Annie McCary, Chair  
Donna Rane-Szostak 
Cris Prince 
James Cook  
Mark Laws 
Cush Bhada, Alternate 
 
Energy Research Group 
Ralph Engdahl  
John Frankel  
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 
Non-Voting Advisors: Sue Stephens, Bill Walsh 
 
Investment Ad Hoc Committee 
Mark Laws 
Donna Rane-Szostak 
 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that Resolution 03-22-82, adopted July 19, 2022, 
is hereby superseded and canceled; and, 

RESOLVED FURTHER; that the officers and agents of this Corporation are 
hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this resolution. 

 
 

 

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 3 of 8



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 4 of 8



 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION 03-22-XX 
 

GRF Committee Appointments 
 

RESOLVED, October 18, 2022, that in compliance with Article 7, Section 7.3 of the 
Golden Rain Foundation Bylaws, the following persons are hereby appointed to serve on 
the committees of the Golden Rain Foundation: 

Community Activities Committee 
Annie McCary  
Cush Bhada 
Mark Laws 
Jules Zalon, Alternate  
 
GRF Finance Committee  
Donna Rane-Szostak  
Mark Laws 
 
GRF Landscape Committee 
Jules Zalon 
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 
Annie McCary, Alternate 
 
GRF Maintenance and Construction Committee 
Ralph Engdahl  
Jim Cook 
Cush Bhada, Alternate 
John Frankel, Alternate 
 
Clubhouse Renovation Ad Hoc Committee 
Ralph Engdahl 
John Frankel  
Cush Bhada, Alternate 
 
GRF Media and Communications Committee 
Annie McCary  
Jim Cook 
Cris Prince, Alternate 
 

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 5 of 8



Mobility and Vehicles Committee 
Jim Cook, Alternate  
John Frankel 
 Cush Bhada 
 
Security and Community Access Committee 
Annie McCary 
Cris Prince 
Donna Rane-Szostak, Alternate 
 
Purchasing Ad Hoc Committee (new) 
Donna Rane-Szostak  
Mark Laws 
Ralph Engdahl, Alternate 
 
Broadband Ad Hoc Committee 
Cris Prince 
Jim Cook 
 
Disaster Preparedness 
Jim Cook 
John Frankel 
Donna Rane-Szostak, Alternate 
 
Laguna Woods Village Traffic Hearings 
John Frankel 
Jules Zalon 
 Mark Laws, Alternate 
 
Strategic Planning Committee 
Nathaniel Ira Lewis 
Mark Laws 
 
IT Technology Advisory Committee (ITAC) 
Mark Laws 
 
Insurance Ad Hoc Committee 
Cris Prince 
Mark Laws 
Jim Cook 
 
Website Ad Hoc Committee 
Annie McCary 
Mark Laws 

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 6 of 8



 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that Resolution 03-22-101, adopted September 20, 2022, is 
hereby superseded and canceled; and 

RESOLVED FURTHER; that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby 
authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out this resolution. 

 
 

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 7 of 8



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #13b 
Page 8 of 8



 
Chair’s Report for October 18, 2022 Board Meeting 

 

Third Financial Report Script Period 8 
 

SLIDE 1 – Through the reporting period of August 31, 2022, total revenue for Third was 
$29,031K compared to expenses of $24,693K, resulting in a net revenue of $4,338K.   
 
SLIDE 2 – In Finance, we keep a close eye on the operating portion of our financial results. 
The Operating Fund shows a surplus of $992K through the reporting period. This chart shows 
how much of our revenue went into operations, with $19,068K coming in from assessments 
and $1,301K coming from non-assessment revenue. This is compared to operating 
expenditures of $19,377K (without Depreciation).  
 
SLIDE 3 – This next chart takes the full income statement and compares those results to 
budget. We can see that Third ended the period better than budget by $3,176K when 
combining both operating and reserve revenues and expenses. 

 
SLIDE 4 – The most significant variances from budget were attributable to: 

• Outside Services $1,848K; Favorable variance due to the timing of payments for 
moisture intrusion plumbing leaks and stoppages. Additionally, delays in contract 
approvals contributed to the variance. Roof replacements had a late start.  
Replacements began in in April and are expected to be completed by October, on 
budget. 
 

• Employee Compensation & Related $733K; Favorable variance resulted from open 
positions in the M&C and Landscape departments. The most heavily impacted area in 
Landscape is grounds maintenance. Impacted areas in M&C are Maintenance 
Operations, Damage Restoration, Carpentry, Plumbing and Paint. 

 
• Insurance $659K; Favorable variance primarily due to a lower insurance than 

anticipated at the beginning of the year. 
 

• Legal Fees $193K; Favorable variance resulted from less Legal fees through the 
reporting period than anticipated. 
 

• Utilities ($302K); Unfavorable variance resulted from Electricity and Water. Water 
consumption was 3.4% higher than anticipated due to the ongoing drought. Going 
forward, the Board approved a reduction in irrigation water to help offset water costs. At 
the end of 2021 SCE was going through a system change and we were not notified of 

Agenda Item #14a(1) 
Page 1 of 12



 
Chair’s Report for October 18, 2022 Board Meeting 

 

Third Financial Report Script Period 8 
 

approximately $100K of bills.  The 2021 electricity bills were paid in 2022 and contribute 
to the unfavorable variance.   

 
SLIDE 5 – On this pie chart, we show non-assessment revenues earned to date of $1,422K by 
category, starting with our largest revenue generating categories of Chargeable Services, 
Permit Fee, Lease Processing Fee, Laundry Revenue, Resale Processing Fee, and so on. 
 
SLIDE 6 – On this pie chart, we see the expenses to date of $24,693K by category, starting 
with our largest categories of Employee Compensation & Related, Insurance, Utilities, Outside 
Services, and so on. 
 
SLIDE 7 – The non-operating fund balance on August 31, 2022 was $31,896K. YTD 
contributions and interest were $8,662K while YTD expenditures were $5,228K. 
 
SLIDE 8 – We compare the non-operating fund balances to historical fund balances for the 
past five years on this chart, which has averaged $29.4 Million. Third Laguna Hills Mutual has 
been committed to supporting reserve requirements while providing more contingency funds 
for unexpected events. 
 
SLIDE 9 – We have a slide here to show resale history from 2020 - 2022. Through August 31, 
2022, Third sales totaled 301, which is 8 lower than prior year for the same time period. The 
average YTD resale price for a Third Mutual was $531K, which is $71K higher than prior year 
for the same time period.  
 

Agenda Item #14a(1) 
Page 2 of 12



1

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

IN
CO

M
E 

ST
AT

EM
EN

T
(in

 T
ho

us
an

ds
)

AC
TU

AL

As
se

ss
m

en
tR

ev
en

ue
$2

7,
60

9

N
on

-a
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
en

ue
$1

,4
22

To
ta

l R
ev

en
ue

$2
9,

03
1

To
ta

l E
xp

en
se

$2
4,

69
3

N
et

 R
ev

en
ue

/(
Ex

pe
ns

e)
$4

,3
38

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 3
 o

f 1
2



2

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

O
PE

RA
TI

N
G 

IN
CO

M
E 

ST
AT

EM
EN

T
(in

 T
ho

us
an

ds
)

AC
TU

AL

As
se

ss
m

en
t R

ev
en

ue
$1

9,
06

8

N
on

-a
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
en

ue
$1

,3
01

To
ta

l R
ev

en
ue

$2
0,

36
9

To
ta

l E
xp

en
se

1
$1

9,
37

7

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Su

rp
lu

s
$9

92

1)
ex

cl
ud

es
 d

ep
re

ci
at

io
n

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 4
 o

f 1
2



3

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

IN
CO

M
E 

ST
AT

EM
EN

T
(in

 T
ho

us
an

ds
)

AC
TU

AL
BU

DG
ET

VA
RI

AN
CE

 
B/

(W
)

As
se

ss
m

en
t R

ev
en

ue
$2

7,
60

9
$2

7,
61

0
($

1)

N
on

-a
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
en

ue
$1

,4
22

$1
,3

96
$2

5

To
ta

l R
ev

en
ue

$2
9,

03
1

$2
9,

00
6

$2
4

To
ta

l E
xp

en
se

$2
4,

69
3

$2
7,

84
5

$3
,1

52

N
et

 R
ev

en
ue

/(
Ex

pe
ns

e)
$4

,3
38

$1
,1

61
$3

,1
76

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 5
 o

f 1
2



4

($
1K

)
$0

$5
00

$1
,0

00
$1

,5
00

$2
,0

00

O
ut

sid
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

Em
pl

oy
ee

 C
om

pe
ns

at
io

n 
an

d 
Re

la
te

d

In
su

ra
nc

e

Le
ga

l F
ee

s

U
til

iti
es

U
nf

av
or

ab
le

Fa
vo

ra
bl

e

($
30

2K
)

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

$7
33

K

$6
59

K

$1
93

K

$1
,8

48
K

Ye
ar

 to
 D

at
e 

Va
ria

nc
es

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 6
 o

f 1
2



5

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 7
 o

f 1
2



6

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 8
 o

f 1
2



7

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

N
O

N
 O

PE
RA

TI
N

G 
FU

N
D 

BA
LA

N
CE

S
(in

 T
ho

us
an

ds
)

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t 

Fu
nd

s*
Ga

rd
en

 V
ill

a 
Fu

nd
Di

sa
st

er
 

Fu
nd

U
na

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
d 

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
s 

Fu
nd

TO
TA

L

Be
gi

nn
in

g 
Ba

la
nc

es
: 1

/1
/2

2
$1

9,
06

9
$1

04
$5

,4
42

$3
,8

47
$2

8,
46

2

Co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

 &
 In

te
re

st
$7

,5
08

$6
0

$1
,0

85
$9

$8
,6

62

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
s

$4
,7

95
$7

4
$3

58
$1

$5
,2

28

Cu
rr

en
t B

al
an

ce
s:

 8
/3

1/
22

$2
1,

78
2

$9
0

$6
,1

69
$3

,8
55

$3
1,

89
6

* 
In

cl
ud

es
 E

le
va

to
r a

nd
 L

au
nd

ry
 F

un
ds

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 9
 o

f 1
2



8

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

FU
N

D 
BA

LA
N

CE
S 

–
Th

ird
 M

ut
ua

l

0

5,
00

0,
00

0

10
,0

00
,0

00

15
,0

00
,0

00

20
,0

00
,0

00

25
,0

00
,0

00

30
,0

00
,0

00

35
,0

00
,0

00

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

G
ar

de
n 

Vi
lla

 R
ec

re
at

io
n 

Ro
om

Fu
nd

U
na

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
d 

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
s

Fu
nd

Di
sa

st
er

 F
un

d

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t F

un
ds Ag

en
da

 It
em

 #
14

a(
1)

 
Pa

ge
 1

0 
of

 1
2



9

Fi
na

nc
ia

l R
ep

or
t

As
 o

f A
ug

us
t 3

1,
 2

02
2

RE
SA

LE
 H

IS
TO

RY
 –

Th
ird

 M
ut

ua
l

0102030405060

N
O

. O
F

RE
SA

LE
S

AV
G

. R
ES

AL
E 

PR
IC

E

YT
D

20
20

20
7

$4
20

,3
12

YT
D

20
21

30
9

$4
60

,0
18

YT
D

20
22

30
1

$5
31

,2
05

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 1
1 

of
 1

2



TH
IS

 P
AG

E 
LE

FT
 B

LA
N

K 
IN

TE
N

TI
O

N
AL

LY

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

1)
 

Pa
ge

 1
2 

of
 1

2



Agenda Item # 14a (2) 
Page 1 of 2



Agenda Item # 14a (2) 
Page 2 of 2



4151 $16,433,725 $400,823$446,851January $22,789,400

3025 $11,904,525 $396,818$507,520February $12,688,000

4441 $20,903,100 $475,070$479,395March $19,655,200
2643 $12,851,400 $494,285$630,767April $27,123,000

4036 $18,741,800 $468,545$545,195May $19,627,005

4941 $25,804,388 $526,620$579,827June $23,772,900

4130 $17,901,388 $436,619$460,066July $13,801,990
3833 $18,292,000 $481,368$603,809August $19,925,700

4532 $20,638,940 $458,643$456,063September $14,594,000

**51 $22,829,400 $447,635October *

**46 $23,744,300 $516,180November *
**44 $20,172,500 $458,466December *

TOTAL 354.00 $163,471,266

MON AVG 39.00 $18,163,474 $459,866

332.00

36.00 $19,330,799

$173,977,195

$523,277

% CHANGE -
YTD

-6.2% 6.4% 13.8%

% Change calculated (ThisYear - LastYear)/LastYear

* Amount is excluded from percent calculation

ALL TOTAL 495.00 $230,217,466332.00 $173,977,195

Monthly Resale Report

REPORT PERIOD

September, 2022ThirdCommunity Services Department

MUTUALPREPARED BY

NO. OF RESALES TOTAL SALES VOLUME IN $$ AVG RESALE PRICE

MONTH LAST YEARTHIS YEAR LAST YEAR LAST YEARTHIS YEAR THIS YEAR

Prepared by Community Services Department as of: of1Page 110/04/2022

Agenda Item #14a(3) 
Page 1 of 2



M
on

th
ly

 A
ct

iv
e 

Le
as

in
g 

R
ep

or
t

20
22

 P
er

io
d 

9 
(M

ut
ua

l 3
)

20
22

Ja
nu

ar
y

14
24

1,
70

2
1,

72
5

1,
51

0
17

7
38

28
.3

12
5

27
.9

0.
4

20
22

Fe
br

ua
ry

15
22

1,
70

8
1,

71
5

1,
48

8
19

0
43

28
.1

12
3

28
.0

0.
1

20
22

M
ar

ch
16

20
1,

70
6

1,
70

8
1,

45
8

21
4

52
28

.0
13

7
28

.0
0.

0

20
22

Ap
ril

11
15

1,
70

9
1,

69
7

1,
42

9
24

2
56

27
.8

14
2

28
.0

-0
.2

20
22

M
ay

6
10

1,
72

0
1,

67
1

1,
39

5
26

0
46

27
.4

11
3

28
.2

-0
.8

20
22

Ju
ne

10
13

1,
72

3
1,

67
3

1,
36

1
28

9
58

27
.4

18
5

28
.2

-0
.8

20
22

Ju
ly

15
17

1,
73

3
1,

66
8

1,
32

4
31

2
49

27
.3

11
1

28
.4

-1
.1

20
22

Au
gu

st
14

20
1,

72
5

1,
65

7
1,

28
3

34
0

54
27

.2
10

8
28

.3
-1

.1
20

22
Se

pt
em

be
r

13
20

1,
71

4
1,

64
2

1,
24

9
36

0
66

26
.9

10
3

28
.1

-1
.2

20
22

O
ct

ob
er

1,
71

5
20

22
N

ov
em

be
r

1,
72

4
20

22
D

ec
em

be
r

1,
73

2

%
C

ha
ng

e
%

 L
ea

se
d

La
st

 Y
ea

r
%

 L
ea

se
d

1 
to

 3
M

on
th

4 
to

 6
M

on
th

Ye
ar

M
on

th
To

ta
l L

as
t

Ye
ar

To
ta

l T
hi

s
Ye

ar
7 

to
 1

2
M

on
th

12
+

M
on

th

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

11
12

M
on

th

16
40

16
60

16
80

17
00

17
20

17
40

Le
as

e 
To

ta
l

To
ta

l T
hi

s 
Ye

ar

To
ta

l L
as

t Y
ea

r

To
ta

l
Ex

pi
ra

tio
ns

To
ta

l
R

en
ew

al
s

Pa
ge

 1
M

on
th

ly
 A

ct
iv

e 
Le

as
in

g 
R

ep
or

t
P

rin
te

d 
: 1

0/
07

/2
02

2 
06

:5
0:

55

Ag
en

da
 It

em
 #

14
a(

3)
 

Pa
ge

 2
 o

f 2



Agenda Item #14b 
Page 1 of 4



Agenda Item #14b 
Page 2 of 4



Agenda Item #14b 
Page 3 of 4



Third Architectural Controls and Standards Committee 
Report of the Regular Open Meeting 
September 26, 2022 
Page 4 of 4 

• Chair Cook commented that all the standards will be revisited as time permits; that some
alterations may be the reason a new member may buy a specific manor and
that those alterations should not necessarily always be required to be removed; dryer
ventilation duct cleaning and inspection schedule; breaker panel inspection schedule.

• Director Lewis commented that clarification is needed on policies related to
potentially removable alterations as there is confusion between departments and
that real estate agents are also confused about the policies.

• Advisor Butler commented that a buyer should be able to work with the seller to
keep the alterations they wish to keep.

14. Date of Next Meeting - Monday, October 24, 2022 at 9:30 a.m.

15. Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at 10:41 a.m. 

Jim Cook, Chair 
Robbi Doncost, Staff Officer 
Telephone: 949-597-4616 

Agenda Item #14b 
Page 4 of 4



 
 

OPEN MEETING 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE THIRD LAGUNA HILLS MUTUAL 
LANDSCAPE COMMITTEE 

 
Thursday, September 1, 2022 – 9:30 AM 

BOARD ROOM/VIRTUAL MEETING 
Laguna Woods Village Community Center, 24351 El Toro Road 

REPORT 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: Chair- Ira Lewis, Ralph Engdahl, Annie McCary, 
Donna Rane-Szostak, Jules Zalon 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT: None. 

OTHERS PRESENT: Mark Laws, Kay Havens (ETWD) 

ADVISORS PRESENT: None. 

STAFF PRESENT: Kurt Wiemann, Jayanna Abolmoloki, Siobhan Foster 
 

1. Call to Order 

Chair Lewis called the meeting to order at 9:31 a.m. 
 

2. Acknowledgement of Media 

No media was present. 
 

3. Approval of the Agenda 

The agenda was approved by unanimous consent. 
 

4. Approval of the July 7, 2022 Report 

The meeting report was approved by unanimous consent. 
 

5. Committee Chair Remarks 

Chair Lewis shared details regarding the reduction in watering turf from three days to 
two. Chair Lewis also informed the audience on measures that the Landscape 
Department is conducting to monitor the turf, trees, and shrubs within the community 
throughout the drought. Chair Lewis shared that the committee is in contact with 
various landscape designers to help formulate a cohesive plan for the re-planting and 
re-landscaping of the community. 

Agenda Item #14c 
Page 1 of 4



Third Landscape Committee 
September 1, 2022 
Page 2 

6. Department Head Update

Mr. Wiemann reviewed the Manager Update presentation in detail. Members made
comments and asked questions.

6a. Project Log 

Mr. Wiemann reviewed the Project Log and answered some questions. 

6b. Tree Work Status Report 

7. Member Comments (Items Not on the Agenda)

Several members made comments and asked questions. Topics included the
following:

• Turf Reduction Plant Material
• Praise for the Landscape crews
• Gates 5 and 6 in regard to slope maintenance

8. Response to Member Comments

Mr. Wiemann explained the turf reduction process using the Landscape Request
Form, and how staff works with the residents on plant material and installation.

Mr. Wiemann stated that the Landscape Managers are listening to the meeting, and
that they will respond to any issues discussed.

Items for Discussion and Consideration 

9. Updating the Landscape Manual

Chair Lewis explained this task to the committee, and provided each member with a
paper copy of the Landscape Manual. Chair Lewis informed the audience that specific
areas requiring updates would be discussed at the next meeting.

10. Tree Removal Request: 5579-B Luz Del Sol – One Star Pine Tree

Director McCary made a motion to accept staff recommendation to remove one Star
Pine tree located at 5579-B. Director Rane-Szostak seconded. The committee was in
unanimous support.

Future Agenda Items: 

11. Updating the Landscape Manual

Mr. Wiemann stated that the Water Use Report will be included in the Department
Head Update portion of the committee meetings moving forward.

Concluding Business: 

Agenda Item #14c 
Page 2 of 4



Third Landscape Committee 
September 1, 2022 
Page 3 

 
12. Committee Member Comments 

Several comments were made. 

Director Rane-Szostak reported that residential water use has decreased by 19% per 
information obtained from El Toro Water District. 

13. Date of Next Meeting – Thursday, October 6, 2022, at 9:30 a.m. 

14. Recess at 10:25 a.m. to prepare for Closed Session. 
 
 
 
 

Ira Lewis  
Ira Lewis (Sep 10, 2022 19:21 PDT) 

 

Ira Lewis, Chair 
Kurt Wiemann, Staff Officer 

Jayanna Abolmoloki, Landscape Administrative Assistant 
949-268-2565 

Agenda Item #14c 
Page 3 of 4



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #14c 
Page 4 of 4



Agenda Item #14d 
Page 1 of 4



Agenda Item #14d 
Page 2 of 4



Agenda Item #14d 
Page 3 of 4



Agenda Item #14d 
Page 4 of 4



   
 

   
 

OPEN MEETING  
 

REPORT OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE GOLDEN RAIN FOUNDATION 
COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES COMMITTEE  

 

Thursday, September 8, 2022 – 1:30 p.m.  
Board Room/Virtual Meeting 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:                Yvonne Horton, Chair, Elsie Addington, Maggie  
     Blackwell, Annie McCary, Diane Casey, Cush Bhada,  
     Dennis Boudreau, Ajit Gidwani 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:                 Ryna Rothberg 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:                   Bunny Carpenter, Juanita Skillman, Joan Milliman,  
     Debbie Dotson 
 
STAFF PRESENT:                       Brian Gruner, Steve Hormuth, Jennifer Murphy, Jackie  
     Chioni 
 
Call to Order   
 
Chair Horton called the meeting to order at 1:34 p.m.  
 
Acknowledgement of Media  
 
There was no press present.  
 
Approval of Agenda  
 
Chair Horton made a motion to approve the agenda with the addition under Reports as 
Donation of Drum Sander for Clubhouse 4 Woodshop and under Items for Discussion and 
Consideration as Garden Center Operating Rules, no second. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Approval of Committee Report for August 11, 2022 
 
Director Bhada made a motion to approve the report, Director Casey seconded. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Chair’s Remarks  
 
Chair Horton welcomed the audience and stated an orderly meeting is expected with 
respectful behavior. 
 

Agenda Item # 15a 
Page 1 of 6



Report of GRF Community Activities Committee Regular Meeting 
September 8, 2022  
Page 2 

Report of the Recreation and Special Events Director 

Mr. Gruner stated staff levels are improving with nine new employees and four additional 
new employees in the onboarding process. More interviews are schedule next week. These 
improvements allow the expansion of services such as extended hours at Clubhouse 5 and 
7 and table tennis in the Community Center. Additional services will be announced in the 
eblast this Friday. Mr. Gruner stated the following facility updates: the Garden Center 
volunteer program is very successful with a total of 16 volunteers; a worm farming class will 
be held on October 14; the hours at the Performing Arts Center will be expanded soon; the 
aerification process for the golf course will begin next week; poolside food delivery service 
at Pool 2 began in August and has been well received with approximately five deliveries per 
day; the Library had 3952 items in circulation which is an increase from last month and 811 
volunteer hours were reported. 

Mr. Gruner presented the Premier Aquatics slide show which reports 42 first aid assists, 13 
water rescues and 1 major incident. Mr. Gruner thanked Premier Aquatics for their swift 
response to the needs of our resident swimmers. 

Mr. Gruner reported the following past events: Kids Splash Days at Pool 2; Queen Nation 
at the Performing Arts Center with 715 attendees; Space Oddity, a tribute to David Bowie 
was moved inside the Performing Arts Center due to the heat with approximately 400 
attendees; the Garden Center hosted a composting event in August at Clubhouse 2. 

Ms. Murphy stated the following upcoming events: Grandparents’ Fun Day will be hosted at 
Clubhouse 5 on September 10 with tickets on sale at the Clubhouse 5 office for $5 per child 
over the age of 2; Ronstadt Revival, Tribute to a Legend will perform at the Performing Arts 
Center on September 17 at 7 p.m.; the free movie at the Performing Arts Center on 
September 19 at 2 p.m. will be West Side Story; the Italian buffet monthly dinner will be 
hosted on September 29 at Clubhouse 5 with tickets on sale at the Clubhouse 5 office for 
$25 each; Who’s Zepplin will perform at the Performing Arts Center on Saturday, October 1 
at 7 p.m. 

Chair Horton stated kudos were given from those who host the Trading Post on Village TV 
to the Recreation Department for moving the Space Oddity concert into the Performing Arts 
Center. 

Member Comments (Items Not on the Agenda) 

Members were called to speak regarding the following: Village Musicians Studio Music club 
on wait list for new clubs and the proposed club project; club exclusion of players; clubs 
bypassing the wait list; reopening of Clubhouse 7; residents allowed to set up rooms with 
reservations; trail and riding program reinstatement after COVID; request for Equestrian Ad 
Hoc Committee minutes. 

Agenda Item # 15a 
Page 2 of 6



Report of GRF Community Activities Committee Regular Meeting 
September 8, 2022  
Page 3 
 

  

 

   
 

Mr. Gruner stated rollovers take precedence when scheduling rooms as facilities reopen 
and no club has bypassed the wait list. Chair Horton stated staff is addressing the 
proposed club project. 
 
Chair Horton stated the riding lesson program is reinstated and the wait list is extensive as 
only a few horses are compatible with this program. She stated a records request may be 
made for the Equestrian Ad Hoc Committee minutes. 
 
CONSENT 
Director Addington made a motion to approve the consent calendar, Director McCary 
seconded. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
REPORTS  
 
Golf Greens Committee Update - Director Blackwell stated the following updates: the 
driving range will use the batting cage from the Par 3 course during the construction 
project; weeds on the golf course are being addressed progressively; merchandise 
replaced in pro shop has improved sales; new scorecards were created with additional Par 
5 options resulting in a better evaluation of the course and better golf play; new staff is 
doing a great job; the perimeter path is being monitored as it should not allow access for 
golf carts which damage the greens due to misuse; reservation violations are considerably 
lower with the new measures implemented; new shotgun rule has provided better safety; 
threesomes are now allowed during club times; a tournament has been approved; new 
rules for cancellations have been implemented; the flashing light used for street crossing by 
the maintenance yard has been fixed to allow for better safety; Golf Genius will not work for 
9-hole club at this time. Director Blackwell thanked the Greens Committee as they have 
been working well together to ensure a safer, better golf experience. 
 
Chair Horton thanked Director Blackwell for this update. 
 
Donation of Drum Sander for Clubhouse 4 Woodshop - Chair Horton stated the 
recommendation of the donation of a drum sander for Clubhouse 4 woodshop. 
 
Director McCary made a motion to approve the donation, Director Casey seconded. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION 
 
Garden Center Fees – Mr. Hormuth, Financial Services Director, presented the staff 
recommendation to approve the proposed Schedule of Garden Center Rental Fees with an 
effective date of January 1, 2023. 

Agenda Item # 15a 
Page 3 of 6



Report of GRF Community Activities Committee Regular Meeting 
September 8, 2022  
Page 4 
 

  

 

   
 

 
Discussion ensued. 
 
Member was called to speak regarding the following: fees raised by 25%; generating 
revenue from missed revenue opportunities.  
 
Director Addington made a motion to accept staff recommendation to approve the 
proposed Schedule of Garden Center Rental Fees with an effective date of January 1, 
2023, Director Blackwell seconded. 
 
Motion passed 4-2-1 (Director Blackwell and Director Casey voted no; Director Rothberg 
was absent). 
 
African American Heritage Club Request for Rollover Exception - Ms. Murphy stated 
the request for African American Heritage Club’s request for an exception to the  
Permanent/Rollover Reservation Policy for a Juneteenth automatic annual rollover. 
 
Discussion ensued. 
 
Chair Horton asked if any exceptions from the committee to direct the African American 
Heritage Club to work with Ms. Murphy and clubs with existing reservations at all 
clubhouses and to direct the African American Heritage Club to present this exception to 
CAC in 2023 for the 2024 calendar year.  
 
No exceptions were stated from the CAC committee. 
 
Garden Center Operating Rules - Mr. Gruner stated the change adding the limit of 9 feet 
under section L.6. 
 
Director Addington inquired as to a reference change under section J.5. which should state 
D1. Staff was directed to implement the change. 
 
Member was called to speak regarding the following: tree cut by an unknown individual and 
allowance of a temporary fence to be kept up indefinitely on a tree plot. 
 
Director Addington made a motion to approve the Garden Center operating rules as 
presented, Director Casey seconded. 
 
Discussion ensued. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDAS  
 

Agenda Item # 15a 
Page 4 of 6



Report of GRF Community Activities Committee Regular Meeting 
September 8, 2022  
Page 5 
 

  

 

   
 

Equestrian Center Operating Rules – Staff was directed to keep this item under Items for 
Future Agendas. 
 
Performing Arts Center Rental Fees – Staff was directed to keep this item under Items 
for Future Agendas. 
 
Poster Policy Review – Staff was directed to keep this item under Items for Future 
Agendas. 
 
CONCLUDING BUSINESS  
 
Committee Member Comments  
Director Casey stated good meeting. 
Advisor Gidwani thanked staff for being on top of things within the Village. 
 
Date of Next Meeting  
 
The next regular meeting of the GRF Community Activities Committee will be held both in 
the board room and virtually via the Zoom platform at 1:30 p.m. on Thursday, October 13, 
2022.  
 
Adjournment 
  
There being no further business, the Chair adjourned the meeting at 3:17 p.m.    

      

___Yvonne Horton___ 
 

Yvonne Horton, Chair 

Agenda Item # 15a 
Page 5 of 6



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item # 15a 
Page 6 of 6



Agenda Item # 15b 
Page 1 of 4



Agenda Item # 15b 
Page 2 of 4



Agenda Item # 15b 
Page 3 of 4



Agenda Item # 15b 
Page 4 of 4



 

 

OPEN MEETING 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE GOLDEN RAIN FOUNDATION 
LANDSCAPE COMMITTEE 

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2022 – 1:30 P.M. 
BOARD ROOM / VIRTUAL MEETING 

Laguna Woods Village Community Center 
24351 El Toro Road 

 
REPORT 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: Chair – Juanita Skillman, Reza Karimi, Ira Lewis, 
Diane Casey, Maggie Blackwell 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT: Annie McCary 

 
OTHERS PRESENT: Bunny Carpenter, Yvonne Horton, Joanna Kipper (Biologist from 
Chambers Group, inc.) 

 
ADVISORS PRESENT: Lynn Jarrett 

 
STAFF PRESENT: Kurt Wiemann, Jayanna Abolmoloki 

 
1. Call Meeting to Order 

Chair Skillman called the meeting to order at 1:32 p.m. 
 

2. Acknowledgment of Media 
No press was present. 

 
3. Approval of the Agenda 

Director Karimi made a motion to approve the agenda. Director Lewis seconded. 
The committee was in unanimous support. 

 
4. Approval of the Meeting Report for June 6, 2022 

The report was approved without objections. 
 

5. Committee Chair Remarks 
Chair Skillman addressed the audience by reminding them that the GRF 
Landscape Committee typically highlights items of particular interest. 

Agenda Item #15d 
Page 1 of 4



6. Department Head Update
6a. Irrigation Control Project Update
Mr. Wiemann stated that GRF owns the irrigation controls for the entire
community and informed the audience that the current system is almost 25 years
old. Mr. Wiemann updated the committee by stating that he is waiting on the first
set of controllers to be delivered. Mr. Wiemann also reminded the committee that
the new system is eligible for rebates.

Members made comments and asked questions.

Reports 

7. Update on the Creek (Presentation)
Mr. Wiemann introduced Joanna Kipper, the Biologist working with Landscape
Services to preserve Aliso Creek. Ms. Kipper presented a slide show containing
images and information regarding the creek.

Members made comments and asked questions.

8. Drought Tolerant Plants (Presentation)
Mr. Wiemann discussed the many drought tolerant plants depicted in the slide
show presented. Mr. Wiemann also shared that Landscape Services will be
replanting the Gate 1 area as a pilot to display multiple drought tolerant plants.
Mr. Wiemann stated that United Mutual will soon have a passive park planted full
of drought tolerant plants, and it will be pet-friendly. Mr. Wiemann recommends
that residents purchase their drought tolerant plants from nurseries, in lieu of big
box stores.

Members made comments and asked questions.

Items for Discussion and Consideration 

9. Member Comments (Items Not on the Agenda)
Several members made comments and asked questions. Topics included:

• The history of Conservators of the Creek
• Request to speak at a Fish, Game, and Wildlife Meeting
• Willow trees near Aliso Creek
• Request to re-plant butterfly-friendly bushes near Aliso Creek
• Informational brochures available at the History Center

10. Response to Members Comments
Kurt Wiemann and Joanna Kipper both responded to member comments.

Agenda Item #15d 
Page 2 of 4



 

 
 
Juanita Skillman (Sep 26, 2022 11:19 PDT)  

 

Concluding Business: 
 

11. Committee Member Comments 
Advisor Lynn Jarrett stated that she appreciates the presentations shared. She 
also stated that Bob Merget’s previous presentation given should be turned into a 
YouTube video. 

 
Director Blackwell stated that What’s Up in the Village should soon contain 
information on drought tolerant plants. 

 
Director Casey commented that she is doing good things with the United Tree Ad 
Hoc Committee. 

 
Director Lewis stated he is happy that this information is getting to the public. 

Director Karimi appreciates what Landscape Services is doing in Aliso Creek. 

12. Date of Next Meeting – Wednesday, December 14, 2022 at 1:30 p.m. 
 

13. Recess for Special Closed Session at 3:18 p.m. 
 
 

Juanita Skillman, Chair 

Agenda Item #15d 
Page 3 of 4



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #15d 
Page 4 of 4



Agenda Item #15e 
Page 1 of 4



Agenda Item #15e 
Page 2 of 4



Agenda Item #15e 
Page 3 of 4



Agenda Item #15e 
Page 4 of 4



DocuSign Envelope ID: 1B7BDCB0-036F-46A3-A51D-E927AFE14757 
 

 

 
 
 

OPEN MEETING 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE GOLDEN RAIN FOUNDATION 
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Monday, October 3, 2022 – 1:30 p.ml. 
BOARD ROOM/VIRTUAL MEETING 

Laguna Woods Village Community Center 24351 El Toro Road 
 
 

Director Present: Debbie Dotson, Mark Laws, Nathaniel Ira Lewis, Diane Casey, 
Ryna Rothberg, Joan Milliman, James Hopkins 

 
Directors Absent: Gan Mukhopadhyay, Anthony Liberatore, Cash Achrekar 

Staff Present: CEO-Siobhan Foster, Makayla Schwietert, Paul Nguyen 

Others Present: Richard Rader (Advisor) 

 
1. Call to Order—Director Dotson, Chair 

Chair Dotson called the meeting to order at 1:30 p.m. and established that a quorum 
was present. 

 
2. Approval of the Agenda 

Chair Dotson requested the addition of Item 6c. Broadband Status Update, Item 6d. 
Website Status Update, and Item 6e. Space Planning (Oral Discussion). 

 
Hearing no changes or objections, Chair Dotson declared the agenda as approved 
unanimously. 

 
3. Approval of the Minutes 

a. GRF Strategic Planning Committee Meeting – May 02, 2022 
Hearing no changes or objections, Chair Dotson declared the minutes of May 02, 
2022 as approved unanimously. 

 
4. Chair’s Remarks 

Chair Dotson commented on the following: 
• Goal for today is to discuss comments and ideas from committee members, and 

hopefully end the meeting with some new goals for the future. 

Agenda Item #15f 
Page 1 of 4



DocuSign Envelope ID: 1B7BDCB0-036F-46A3-A51D-E927AFE14757 
GRF Strategic Planning Committee 
October 3, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 

5. Old Business
a. Committee Member Responses to Internal Survey

Chair Dotson provided a presentation on the Internal Survey with responses from
committee members.

Discussion ensued among the committee.

b. Discussion of Ideas
The committee further discussed ideas that can be brought back at future
meetings.

6. New Business
a. Status of Corporate Vote on Building E Replacement

Chair Dotson provided an update regarding Building E Replacement vote results
from the Corporate Members.

Discussion ensued among the committee.

b. Set 3 Goals for 2023
Chair Dotson and the Committee discussed the following goals for 2023:
• Obtain trend reports.
• Recreational space utilization consultant.

THIS ITEM WAS ADDED DURING APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
c. Broadband Status Update

Chair Dotson commented on a study that took place to advise on strategic
planning for broadband services.

Discussion ensued among the committee.

THIS ITEM WAS ADDED DURING APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
d. Website Status Update

Chair Dotson provided a brief update regarding the status of the Website
renewals.

THIS ITEM WAS ADDED DURING APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
e. Space Planning (Oral Discussion)

Chair Dotson commented that over the years, the need for space planning has
been discussed.

Chair Dotson has requested a short-term ad-hoc committee be formed to move
forward on the Building-E space planning project.

7. Next Meeting – TBD

8. Committee Member Comments
• Director Hopkins commented on the importance of obtaining a trends report, as

the facts are the most important things to gather
• Chair Dotson commented Board Elections are in some way a form of Strategic

Agenda Item #15f 
Page 2 of 4



DocuSign Envelope ID: 1B7BDCB0-036F-46A3-A51D-E927AFE14757 
GRF Strategic Planning Committee 
October 3, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Planning. Sometimes change in Boards are needed, and sometimes they are 
not. The importance that a Member has proper experience, and want to be on a 
Board to make a difference. 

 
9. Adjournment 
There being no further business the meeting was adjourned at 3:25 p.m. 

 
 
 

Debbie Dotson, Chair 
GRF Strategic Planning Committee 

Agenda Item #15f 
Page 3 of 4



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #15f 
Page 4 of 4



Agenda Item #15g 
Page 1 of 4



Agenda Item #15g 
Page 2 of 4



Agenda Item #15g 
Page 3 of 4



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Agenda Item #15g 
Page 4 of 4


	Blank Page
	4a Third_Board_Minutes_09-20-2022_OPEN_(FINAL) (READY).pdf
	Tuesday, September 20, 2022 - 9:30 a.m. Laguna Woods Village Community Center Board Room/Virtual Meeting
	1. Call meeting to order / Establish Quorum – President Laws, Chair
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Approval of Agenda
	5. Report of the Chair
	6. Update from the VMS Board – Chair diLorenzo
	7. Open Forum (Three Minutes per Speaker)
	8. Responses to Open Forum Speakers
	9. California Organic Recycling Legislation and Associated Industry Solutions (Oral Presentation)
	10. CEO Report
	b. Recommendation from the Landscape Committee:
	RESOLUTION 03-22-95
	Approve the Request for Removal of One Star Pine Tree 5579-B Luz Del Sol

	RESOLUTION 03-22-XX
	Anti-Harassment, Anti-Abuse and Anti-Intimidation Policy and Charter of the Joint Hearing Body Committee

	RESOLUTION 03-22-96
	Board Member Participation in Committees

	RESOLUTION 03-22-97
	2021 Operating Deficit Transfer

	RESOLUTION 03-22-98
	Outside Plant Watering Restrictions

	RESOLUTION 03-22-99
	2023 Business Plan Resolution

	RESOLUTION 03-22-100
	2023 Reserve Funding Plan

	RESOLUTION 03-22-101
	GRF Committee Appointments
	Community Activities Committee
	Purchasing Ad Hoc Committee (new)
	GRF Landscape Committee
	GRF Maintenance and Construction Committee
	Clubhouse Renovation Ad Hoc Committee
	GRF Media and Communications Committee
	Broadband Ad Hoc Committee
	Mobility and Vehicles Committee
	Security and Community Access Committee
	Disaster Preparedness
	Laguna Woods Village Traffic Hearings
	Strategic Planning Committee
	IT Technology Advisory Committee (ITAC)
	Insurance Ad Hoc Committee
	Website Ad Hoc Committee

	RESOLUTION 03-22-XX
	Revised Alteration Standard 10- Doors, Exterior (Swing)

	2.0 TYPES OF DOORS
	d. Committees: How to get Residents More Involved (Oral Discussion)
	e. Contractor List – Repeal Resolution 03-15-135
	The Committee Reports and GRF Committee Highlights were taken out of order with 14e and 15a-d going first.
	14. Committee Reports
	15. GRF Committee Highlights
	17. Directors’ Comments
	19. Adjournment


	4b Third Special_Open_Session_Minutes 09-30-2022_(FINAL) (READY).pdf
	1. Call Meeting to Order / Establish Quorum – President Laws
	2. State Purpose of Meeting – President Laws
	3. Approval of the Agenda
	4. Introduction of Third/GRF Candidates:
	5. Candidate Opening Statements
	6. Candidate Interviews
	7. Candidate Closing Statements
	8. Entertain a Motion to Commence Balloting
	9. Entertain a Motion to Cease Balloting
	11. Introduction of Third/VMS Candidates:
	12. Candidate Opening Statements
	13. Candidate Interviews
	14. Candidate Closing Statements
	15. Entertain a Motion to Commence Balloting
	16. Entertain a Motion to Cease Balloting
	18. Director Comments
	19. Adjournment 12:00 p.m.
	Blank Page

	4c Third_Open_Session_Agenda_Prep_Minutes_10-07-2022_(FINAL) (READY).pdf
	1. Call Meeting to Order / Establish Quorum
	2. Approval of the Agenda
	3. Discuss and Consider Items to be placed on the Third Board Regular Meeting Agenda (open & closed session) on October 18, 2022
	4. Director Comments
	5. Adjournment

	4e -  Third_Special_Open_Meeting_Minutes_10-10-2022_(Vacancy_Fill)_(PN) (READY).pdf
	1. Call Meeting to Order / Establish Quorum
	2. State Purpose of Meeting – President Laws
	3. Approval of the Agenda
	4. Introduction of Third Candidates
	5. Candidate Opening Statements
	6. Candidate Interviews
	7. Candidate Closing Statements
	8. Entertain a Motion to commence Balloting
	9. Entertain a Motion to Cease Balloting
	11. Director Comments
	12. Adjournment

	11b(1) - RESOLUTION 03 (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	11b(2) - RESOLUTION 03 (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	11b(3) - RESOLUTION 03 (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	11c - 2023 Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy for Board (READY).pdf
	STAFF REPORT
	RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND
	The proposed 2023 Third Laguna Hills Mutual Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy outlines the procedures, policies, and practices employed by the Mutual in enforcing rights or other legal remedies against members who are in default in payment of ass...
	DISCUSSION
	FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
	ATTACHMENT(S)

	Blank Page

	13a M&C ENDORSEMENT - Shepherds Crook Wall Height (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	13b Resolution 03-22-XX Third Mutual Committee Appointments (READY).pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	14a(1) - Third Treasurers Report - August 31 2022 (combined) (READY).pdf
	Third Financial Report Script Period 8
	Third Chair's Report 2022 - P8 Slides
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022
	Slide Number 4
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022
	Financial Report�As of August 31, 2022

	Blank Page

	14c - Third Landscape Committee Notes 9-1-2022 Open_JA_kw - signed (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	15a - GRF CAC report 2022-9-8 (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	15d - GRF Landscape Committee Report 9-14-2022 Open_ja_kw - signed (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	15f -GRF_strategic_planning_committee_minutes_-_10.03.22_(FINAL) (READY).pdf
	Blank Page

	15g - GRF Mobility & Vehicles Minutes Report 2022-08-03 (READY).pdf
	Blank Page




